NOTE TO USERS

This reproduction is the best copy available.

 UMI°

 ·	 	

Examining the Relationship between Leadership Style and Navy Recruiting Effectiveness.

Dissertation

Submitted to Northcentral University

Graduate Faculty of the School of Business and Technology Management in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

by

DAVID A. MURRAY

Prescott Valley, Arizona June 2010 **UMI Number: 3470459**

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3470459
Copyright 2010 by ProQuest LLC.
All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

Copyright 2010

David A. Murray

APPROVAL PAGE

Examining the Relationship between Leadership Style and Navy Recruiting

Effectiveness

by

David A. Murray

Approved by:	
Chair: Wanda Curlee, D.M.	<u>U/28/2010</u> Date
Member: Jaime K. Klein, Ph.D.	
Member: Brett A. Gordon, Ph.D.	
Certified by:	
School Dean: Cheryl Winsten-Bartlett, Ph.D.	$\frac{7/6/0}{\text{Date}}$

Abstract

Recruiting is one of the prominent human resource challenges facing organizations today. One of the notable qualities of leadership is to motivate subordinates to work more effectively and achieve increased production. This quantitative method and correlational design study investigated the leadership styles of six U.S. Navy Recruiting Districts utilizing Bass and Avolio's 2004 Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ-5X). Data analysis from 706 received questionnaires supported Bass's Full-Spectrum Leadership model that transformational leadership was more effective than transactional leadership within Navy Recruiting. Results indicated strong positive correlation for transformational leadership r(101) = .84, p < .01 and weak positive correlation for transactional leadership r(101) = .21, p < .01 to recruiting production. The results also supported Bass's position that the best of leadership is both transformational and transactional with regard to perceived outcomes scores of extra effort, effectiveness, and job satisfaction. However, these perceived outcomes scores did not translate into the highest recruiting production. The recruiting production results suggested it was singularly the transformational leader that drove recruiting production vice a transactional leader augmented with transformational leadership. Two recommendations are provided to Navy Recruiting Command. First, leaders need a clear understanding of their leadership attributes. Surveying leaders and subordinates with an instrument similar to the MLQ-5X will provide this baseline. The baseline will identify weaknesses, which appropriate training can overcome. Prioritization of identifying current leader's leadership attributes and conducting appropriate training should be given to second-tier leaders as these leaders demonstrated the lowest leadership scores, perceived outcomes scores, and production

results. Second, screen leaders for appropriate transformational leadership skills prior to placement into positions of authority. Three future research areas are recommended. First, replicate this study with a longitudinal study that averages perceptions of leadership attributes over time to provide a clearer picture of the leader's actual leadership style. Second, conduct a quasi-experiment by controlling the composition of the leadership hierarchy and align leaders with similar strengths to examine the additive impact that the entire leadership hierarchy has on production. Third, examine the relationship of leadership attributes to recruiter production of all four branches of the military within a single geographic area.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my faculty mentor and chair, Dr. Wanda Curlee for her guidance and support throughout this process. As a former Naval Officer, Wanda understood the Navy's demands on my time and was extremely patient when I was out of communication for weeks on end. She is the epitome of 'mentor'--coach, cheerleader, and friend. Thanks Wanda! I would also like to thank my other faculty committee members, Dr. Jaime Klein and Dr. Brett Gordon for their support and contributions.

I also want to thank the Commanding Officers, recruiting leadership and those recruiters who took time out of their busy schedule to participate in this research. Thanks also to John Noble, Head of Research for Navy Recruiting Command, for coordinating official approval for this project. I also need to acknowledge Dr. Dave Bitters statistical help, Ray Villarreal's help with editing, and Venita Kruger for her help with formatting.

I want to thank my parents for instilling within me the value of education and the spirit of perseverance. My Dad has been my life-long mentor and role model. I owe a special thanks to my Dad for all of his advice and continuous encouragement. Dad, your dedication to lifelong learning inspired me to tackle this project.

To Jane, my bride of over thirty years thanks for all your support. You have been my confidant and advisor throughout my military career. Your sage advice and constant encouragement has always kept me grounded in reality. Without your support, this dissertation would not have been possible.

Finally, (I know a one sentence paragraph drives my mentors nuts but how can you say it better) Soli Deo gloria.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	vi i
List of Figures	vii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Background	1
Problem Statement	3
Purpose	3
Theoretical Framework	
Research Questions	7
Nature of the Study	8
Significance of the Study	10
Definition of Terms	11
Summary	12
Chapter 2: Literature Review	14
Evolution of Leadership Theories	14
Trait Theory	15
Behavioral Theory	16
Ohio State University Study	19
University of Michigan Study	20
Impact of the Ohio State and University of Michigan Studies	21
Situational and/or Contingency Theory	22
Fiedler's Contingency Model	22
Path-Goal Theory	23
Vertical Dyad Linkage	25
Situational Leadership Theory	26
Vroom and Yetton Decision Tree Model	27
Summary of Situational Leadership Theory	28
Motivational Theories	
Current Leadership Models-Transactional Leadership Theory	30
Current Leadership ModelTransformational Leadership Theory	
Full-Spectrum Leadership Model	32
Summary	34
Chapter 3: Research Method	36
Research Methods and Design	38
Participants	
Materials/Instruments	
Operational Definitions of Variables	45
Data Collection, Processing, and Analysis	
Methodological Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	
Ethical Assurances	51
Researcher Concerns	51

Northcentral University IRB Concerns	53
Summary	54
Chapter 4: Findings	
Results	
Research Question 1	
Summary	
Chapter 5: Implications, Recommendations, and Conclusions	70
Implications	
Additional Findings Recommendations	
Conclusions	
References	79
Appendix A: MLQ-5X Sample Survey	88
Appendix B: 33-Item Emotional Intelligence Scale	92
Appendix C: Letter from N5, Commander, Navy Recruiting Command	93
Appendix D: Procedures Document	95
Appendix E: Informed Consent Letter	96
Appendix F: IRB Application	97
Appendix G: MLQ-5X Scoring Key	103
Appendix H: Survey Response Rates	104
Appendix I: Comparison of Normative Sample to Navy Recruiting Sample	105
Appendix J: Comparison of Normative Sample to Individual NRD Samples	106
Appendix K: Comparison of Normative Sample to Leadership Levels Samples	s 107
Appendix L: Comparison of Leadership Positions to Production	108
Appendix M: Comparison of Leadership Styles to Production	109
Appendix N: Comparison of RINC Leadership Styles to Production	110

List of Tables

Table 1	Operational Variables	45
Table 2	Pearson Product Moment Correlation	64
Table 3	Partial Correlations	65

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Managerial	Grid	18
-----------	------------	------	----

Chapter 1: Introduction

Recruiting is one of the top human resource challenges facing organizations today (Bielski, 2007). The U.S. Navy annually recruits approximately 11% of their active duty force (Commander Navy Recruiting Command, 2006). One of the great qualities of leadership is to motivate subordinates to work more effectively and achieve increased production (Masi & Cooke, 2000). This study was designed to investigate the leadership styles of the recruiting leaders in six U.S. Navy Recruiting Districts (NRD) in terms of transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire characteristics, by utilizing Bass and Avolio's 2004 Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire. The relationship between these identified leadership styles and recruiting effectiveness were then examined.

This chapter provides an introduction to the issue of the importance of leadership in an organization's recruiting component. Specifically, a brief background highlighting the problem is provided, followed by statements of the specific problem being addressed and the purpose of this study. A discussion of the theoretical framework of this study from the evolutions of leadership theory to the current Full-Spectrum Leadership theory is given. Then the research questions and hypotheses are presented followed by nature and significance of the study. Finally, a glossary of pertinent terminology and a summary of this chapter are given.

Background

Employee recruiting is one of the leading challenges facing human resource departments today (Bielski, 2007; Deloitte & Touche, 2001; Leonard, 1999). Recruiting has become more complicated over the years, and attracting top talent from a shrinking

pool of available talent is a global challenge for all sectors, private, public, and non-profit (Cascio, 1995; Lieb, 2003; Pollitt, 2004). Amaram (2005) stated the following:

The world economy has enjoyed sustained expansion and growth since the 1990s. This, coupled with the rising dominance of information technology and global competition has put human capital at a premium as a factor of business competition and organizational success. The exit of the baby boomer generation from the workforce into retirement at a faster rate than the entry of their replacement cohorts, and the job-hopping tendencies of the talented few, among other forces, have made the task of recruiting and retaining skilled workers a daunting exercise for most companies (p. 49).

Sharkey (2005) stated that for businesses to compete successfully in the 21st century, they need to become efficient which is reliant on effective leadership.

Leadership, which Burns (1978) identified, consists of two broad areas: transactional and transformational. Burns defined transactional leadership as seeking to motivate followers by appealing to their own self-interest. Burns stated that the transactional leadership model is a model based on reciprocity, where the relationship between leaders and their followers is an exchange of work-for-pay, promotions, or other rewards and management-by-exception, where the manager exerts corrective action only when the employees fail to meet performance standards.

Burns (1978) identified transformational leadership as leaders concerned with engaging the hearts and minds of all employees to pursue the larger organizational goals vice pursuing individual goals. Pounder (2003) described transactional leadership style as an inferior form of leadership compared to transformational leadership style. Pounder

asserted that the transactional leader relies on rewards to motivate, while the transformational leader is capable of inspiring subordinates to achieve results they never dreamed possible.

Problem Statement

Effective leadership is a major managerial issue (Smith & Rupp, 2004). Leadership within an organization's recruiting component is critical, as recruitment is the number one human resources challenge (Deloitte & Touche, 2001; Leonard, 1999). For the United States Navy, the recruiting challenge is one of the Navy's top priorities and is vital to the success of the Navy with approximately 11% of the active duty Fleet replaced each year with new recruits (Commander Navy Recruiting Command, 2006; United States Navy, 2007). According to Mullen (2007), finding qualified replacements is a tough challenge when only 30% of high school graduates meet the moral, mental, and physical fitness qualification standards of the United States Navy. Mullen stated that this same population is actively recruited by sister services, corporate America, and colleges and universities. Additionally, Mullen stated that finding and recruiting qualified personnel with the right mix of education, diversity, and skill sets from that limited available replacement personnel pool is further complicated in today's era of diminished propensity for military service. Consequently, effective leadership of the Navy's recruiting component is critical to meeting their annual accession goals.

Purpose

This quantitative method and correlational design study examined the relationship that the independent variable of leadership styles, within the existing hierarchal levels of Navy Recruiting, had on the dependent variables of recruiting production and on the

number of non-successful recruiters. The survey instrument used to measure the independent variable of leadership styles was Bass and Avolio's (2004) Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire 5X (MLQ-5X) 3rd edition (see Appendix A). The MLQ-5X is a proven academic survey instrument with established validity and reliability to measure the Full-Spectrum Leadership behaviors. The MLQ survey was scored using the MLQ Manual purchased from Mind Garden, Inc. The information for the dependent variables of recruiter production and number of non-successful recruiters were obtained from the data maintained by each participating recruiting district.

For the purposes of this research with a finite universe of 5,000 total Navy recruiters (Commander Navy Recruiting Command, 2007), a 95 percent confidence level, significant effect of 0.80, an error rate of \pm 5 percent, were chosen for this analysis. The result of the power analysis was that the sample size needed for this research was 601 samples. Six NRDs were selected to participate that provided geographic separation and a 50% mix of Fleet and non-Fleet concentration areas.

Participants were from 6 of the 26 Navy Recruiting Districts geographically spread out across the continental United States. In addition to geographic separation, three of the six participating recruiting districts are located near a major Fleet concentration area. Specifically, the study obtained data for this quantitative method and correlational design research through surveying Navy recruiting personnel located at NRD Richmond, Virginia; Miami, Florida; Chicago, Illinois; Houston, Texas; Portland, Oregon; and San Diego, California.

Only qualified recruiters from these six recruiting districts were requested to participate. According to Commander Mark Laxen, Commanding Officer, Navy

Recruiting District Houston (personal communication, August 22, 2006), recruiters become certified as qualified recruiters upon their completion of the Navy's Personal Qualification Standards (PQS) program. The PQS program facilitates trainee self-study in preparation for supervised practice (CNET, 2006).

Additionally, responses from qualified recruiters were screened for morale issues using the 33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale developed by Schutte, Malouff, Hall, Haggerty, Cooper, Golden, and Dronheim (1998). The authors allow free use of the 33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale by researchers (Schutte et al., 1998). The 33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale was used to verify recruiter morale issues that had been previously identified by the annual organizational assessment conducted by each Navy Recruiting District. This organizational assessment measures the command's climate through review of equal opportunity, sexual harassment, ethical performance of superiors, discrimination, and general morale issues (Chief of Naval Operations [OPNAV], 2001).

The 33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale (Schutte et al., 1998) measures an individual's ability to monitor one's own emotions and feelings and to observe and react to others' displayed emotions (see Appendix B). Some of the traits that emotions affect are an individual's self-control, zeal, persistence, and the ability to motivate themselves, which in turn influence an individual's productivity (Goleman, 1995; Law, Wong, & Song, 2004). Emotional Intelligence has been identified as an individual's ability to monitor, evaluate, and make appropriate changes in one's own mood, which not only affects that individual's morale but also the morale of coworkers, especially subordinates (Abraham, 1999; Barling, Slater, & Kelloway, 2000). Abraham (1999) also stated that the

33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale has established reliability value of .78 and internal consistency estimates ranged from .87 to .90.

The combination of the annual organizational assessment with the 33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale survey instrument helped screen selection of recruiters that participated. Screening was performed after the participating recruiters completed both survey instruments. Leadership attribute scores, perceived outcomes scores, and recruiter production data for those recruiters identified with morale issues were removed from the data analysis to reduce skewing results.

Theoretical Framework

Research literature on leadership models reviewed an evolution of leadership models over the decades that leadership has been studied. Numerous leadership models beginning with the great man, to trait theory, to the most current theory of transcendental leadership have been presented, researched, modified or rejected. Fairholm (1998) stated that "Leadership is an idea in motion and that our understanding of this most basic and widespread organizational relationship has been recast several times over the 100 years of modern management" (p. 8).

While numerous leadership theories exist, one of the current and widely researched theories centers on the debate of transformational leader versus the transactional leader model (Judge & Piccolo, 2004). In recent years, management theorists have given considerable, and well deserved, attention to the testing of the Full-Spectrum Leadership model across the spectrum of leadership roles. Morris (2003) noted that over 600 dissertations have already investigated this leadership theory. Over 100 studies were conducted in the five-year span from 1990 to 1995 (Humphreys & Einstein,

2003). The Full-Spectrum Leadership model has been studied and continues to be studied in numerous organizations that range from non-profit to governmental to corporate America (Bass, 1999). Leadership lessons continued to be learned by both the researched organization and by scholars, yet Bass (1999) stated that additional research should be directed at why transformational leadership is more effective than transactional leadership in a wide variety of circumstances.

Research Questions

The relationship between leadership styles of Naval recruiting leaders and recruiter production was examined quantitatively through a study employing Bass and Avolio's (2004) Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire 5X (MLQ-5X) 3rd edition. The study was designed to address the following two research questions:

- Q1. What, if any, relationship exists between leadership style and recruiter production?
- Q2. What, if any, relationship exists between specific leadership styles and incidents of non-successful recruiters?

Hypotheses

The hypothesis for Research Question 1 was formulated to assess whether a relationship existed between leadership style and recruiter production. The hypothesis for Research Question 2 addressed whether a relationship existed between leadership style and incidents of non-successful recruiters. The hypotheses for Research Questions 1 and 2, in null and alternative form, are as follows:

Q1. What, if any, relationship exists between leadership styles and recruiter production?

 $\mathbf{H1}_0$: No correlation exists between leadership styles and recruiter production.

H1a: Correlation exists between leadership styles and recruiter production.

Q2. What, if any, relationship exist between specific leadership styles and incidents of non-successful recruiters?

H2₀: No correlation exists between specific leadership styles and incidents of non-successful recruiters.

H2a: Correlation exists between leadership styles and incidents of non-successful recruiters.

Nature of the Study

A quantitative method and correlational design was used to examine the relationship that leadership styles of NRD leaders had on recruiter production. The six NRDs that participated in the study tracked and provided the dependent variables data of recruiter production and incidents of non-successful recruiters. The independent variable of leadership styles were measured by administering the MLQ-5X survey questionnaire to both qualified recruiters and recruiting leadership. Bass and Avolio (2004) stated that the MLQ-5X measures idealized attributes, idealized behaviors, inspiration, individual consideration, and intellectual stimulation as the factors associated with transformational leadership. Additionally, the authors stated that the MLQ measures contingent reward and management-by-exception (active) as the two factors associated with transactional leadership and management-by-exception (passive) and laissez-faire as the two factors

associated with non-leadership. The MLQ-5X also measures job performance perceived outcomes of extra effort, efficiency, and satisfaction (Bass & Avolio, 2004).

Descriptive statistics (means, standard deviations) describing the nine leadership attributes, three perceived outcomes from the MLQ-5X, and recruiting production were completed. An analysis of variance (ANOVA) procedure was utilized to test the hypothesis that there were no significant differences between the observed leadership attributes, perceived outcomes, and recruiter production across the six geographically separated recruiting districts.

Zikmund (2003) stated that goodness of fit statistical procedures measures whether or not there are statistically significant differences between observed and predicted values. This study used a chi-squared goodness-of-fit procedure, which tested the actual leadership attributes and perceived outcomes values obtained from the MLQ-5X survey to the expected leadership attributes and perceived outcomes values obtained from Bass and Avolio's (2004) normative sample. Correlation analysis demonstrated the magnitude and direction of the relationship, without implying causation, between the independent variables of leadership style and the dependent variable of recruiter production. Additional correlation analysis tested the relationship between one leadership style and job performance indicators of extra effort, effectiveness, and satisfaction while controlling for the effects of the other two leadership styles.

One limitation of this quantitative method and correlational design research is the study did not examine the additive impact of the entire leadership hierarchy. Instead, the study focused solely on the immediate leader-subordinate relationship. Another potential limitation was the existence of unknown extraneous variables. Influence from unknown,

and consequently unaccounted for, extraneous variables could affect the relationship between leadership styles and recruiter production constructs, skewing the final analysis.

Significance of the Study

Competition for available employee talent has increased (Adidam, 2006; Amaram, 2005; Deloitte & Touche, 2001; Gordon & Lowe, 2002; Mullen, 2007; Roach, 2006; Trahaut & Yearout, 2006). Amaram (2005) stated, "current and projected economic profiles have created a tight labor market. For many industries, the shortage of qualified personnel is perceptibly eroding profits and limiting their ability to expand" (p. 51). Mullen (2007) stated that corporate America, colleges and universities, and the U.S. military are all competing for the same top 30% of high school graduates.

Leonard (1999) stated that the Kellogg Graduate School of Management at Northwestern University survey found that "40 percent considered recruitment the number one human resources challenge" (p. 37). Bielski (2007) stated that the recruitment process is under scrutiny at many firms, and that effective recruiting practices tend to improve employee retention. Expenses associated with employee turnover is costing American companies more than \$140 billion annually (Gordon & Lowe, 2002).

The study of leadership within Navy Recruiting would complement the current body of knowledge examining the effects that leadership style has on employee performance. This understanding of the correlation that leadership styles has to recruiter production, in a highly structured setting with an already established transactional reward system in place, such as the U.S. Navy Recruiting Command (Commander Navy Recruiting Command, 2009) extends the body of leadership knowledge began by Masi

and Cooke (2000) and their research on leadership within the U.S. Army Recruiting Command.

The results of this study could benefit the U.S. Navy and sister services recruiting commands, other recruiting organizations (such as college and universities), or corporate America by improving their recruiting efficiency and to better compete in the quest for diminishing talent. Additionally, this study's findings could be used to potentially compliment and contribute to the knowledge gleamed from several previous studies. The first study by Masi and Cooke (2000) was a limited study of leadership styles and recruiter productivity within the U.S. Army Recruiting Command. The results of this study could also compliment the studies by Bass (1997b); Mackenzie, Podiakoff, and Rich (2001); Derzsy (2003); and Riley (2006), of leadership and salesperson performance, as recruiting is similar to sales in that both the recruiter and the salesperson are excising influence over individuals. Lastly, the results of this study could compliment the study by Trombetta (2006) of transformational leadership applied in a transactional-based organization.

Definition of Terms

Failed recruiter. Navy recruiter, despite training and adequate resources, who consistently fails to meet established recruiting goals of approximately 0.8 new contracts per month (Rear Admiral Robin Braun, Deputy Commander, Navy Recruiting Command, personal communication, August 24, 2008).

Laissez-Faire Leadership. Non-leadership style where the leader avoids taking a managerial role with employees (Spinelli, 2004).

Leadership style. How managers direct (or do not direct) their recruiting personnel to accomplish the required work (Derzsy, 2003).

Mediocre recruiter. Navy recruiter that despite training, adequate resources, and motivational incentives, only manages to meet established recruiting goals of approximately 0.8 new contracts per month. The mediocre recruiter never rises above minimal acceptable standards (Rear Admiral Robin Braun, Deputy Commander, Navy Recruiting Command, personal communication, August 24, 2008).

Non-successful recruiter. Navy recruiter that meets the definition of a failed or mediocre recruiter (Captain Rich Soucie, Inspector General, Navy Recruiting Command, personal communication, November 15, 2008).

Tour of Duty. Standard tour of duty for U.S. Navy recruiters is 36 consecutive months (Commander Rich Soucie, personal communication, July 27, 2006).

Transactional leadership. Transactional leaders tend to gain compliance by offering rewards for performance and compliance or threatening punishment for nonperformance or noncompliance (Bryant, 2003).

Transformational leadership. "Transformational leadership refers to the leader moving the follower beyond immediate self-interest through idealized influence (charisma), inspiration, intellectual stimulation, or individualized consideration" (Bass, 1999, p.11).

Summary

This study is expected to add to the body of leadership knowledge by identifying the correlation between leadership styles and recruiting production in an increasing challenging recruiting environment (Adidam, 2006; Amaram, 2005; Gordon & Lowe,

2002; Mullen, 2007; Roach, 2006; Trahaut & Yearout, 2006). All recruiting organizations, including government, college or universities, and corporate America, and large organizations with widely disbursed sales-forces, will gain a solid foundation with which to base manager selection requirements. Alternatively, these same institutions could institute manager-training programs to improve recruiting or sales production.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Chapter 1 laid the foundation for this research project and briefly discussed literature pertaining to leadership and management. The purpose of this chapter is to examine leadership literature, especially literature germane to the Full-Spectrum Leadership continuum theory. The chapter will begin with an overview of the evolution of leadership theory up to the transformational--transactional leadership theory. Then the chapter will discuss the framework of Bass's (1985) Full-Spectrum Leadership theory, and will progress to research findings related to transformational and transactional leadership. The chapter will conclude with research relevant to the recruiting industry and gaps in current research.

Evolution of Leadership Theories

Judge and Bono (2000) stated that "given the centrality of leadership to the success or failure of organizations and even societies, there are few more important questions than, 'What makes a leader great?'" (p. 751). Leadership is a universal phenomenon in human society that has been examined across various environments and the importance of leadership is apparent, as it is one of the most frequent subjects of empirical research (Riley, 2006). Tourish and Pinnington (2002) stated that leadership is the topic of choice for both academia and the business world when discussing management. Yet, Burns (1978) stated that leadership is one of the most observed and least understood phenomena on earth. Bass (1985) stated that researchers cannot agree on a single definition for leadership. Fiedler (1996) stated:

Since the effectiveness of the leader has frequently determined the survival or demise of a group, organization, or an entire nation, it has been of concern to some of the foremost thinkers in history, like Plato, Machiavelli, or von Clausewitz. If leadership were easy to understand we would have all the answers long before now (p. 241).

There is a great deal of literature regarding leadership and leadership theories.

Leadership theories have evolved over time. Each new theory is attempting to solve that important question of what makes a leader great and how to either identify those leadership attributes in others or teach those leadership attributes to others in an effort to build future leaders. Leadership theorists began by focusing primary on the leader, then shifted the focus to the leader-follower interaction, and then added situational specifics to their leadership model. Yet, while each new theory has added to understanding the complex nature of what the leader's role is, many of these earlier models fail to explain the full range of leadership behaviors, fail to generalize across organizational boundaries, or fail the test of statistical significance.

Trait Theory

Most early leadership studies focused primary on the leader (Avolio, 2007).

Maslanka (2004) stated that the founding father of sociology, Max Weber, began the scientific study of leadership period. Weber (1947) stated that certain qualities or traits made leaders charismatic leaders that set them apart from traditional bureaucrats. Weber believed that in order to become a charismatic leader, an individual needed to resolve a social crisis. Weber defined charisma as an attribute of almost magical power that brings about an irrational fascination by followers similar to warrior heroes, shamans, and other extraordinarily magnetic leaders.

Other researchers examined observed traits, qualities, and characteristics in leaders and compared these attributes to non-leaders. From the early 1900s until the late 1940s, this *trait* approach dominated the leadership theory literature. The thought process was leaders could not learn the trait but rather had to be born with that desired trait and these traits accounted for the leaders' success across all situations or organizational settings (Bass, 1990a; Black, 2006; Wagner & Hollenbeck, 2002).

Criticism of the trait theory revolved around the inability of researchers to identify a set of traits that were universally held by leaders and could therefore predict future leaders (Horner, 1997). Kest (2006) also explained that leadership examined through the leaders traits alone did not account for variance in leadership situations or for the dynamics of leader-following interactions. Gehring (2007) stated that the trait, or great man, theory is generally not an accepted leadership model for determining the characteristics of successful leader.

Behavioral Theory

Leadership researchers pursued the trait approach until the late 1940s when they discounted the trait theory and began researching behavior vice personality traits (Aronson, 2001; Burke, 1979). The focus of the behavioral theory approach was to describe the task versus relationship behaviors that influenced subordinates to achieve the desired organizational goals. According to Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002), behavioral researchers focused on two general classes of supervisor behaviors: employee-oriented or job-oriented. Wagner and Hollenbeck defined leaders that were employee-oriented focused on meeting the social and emotional needs of their employees, while job-oriented leaders focused on methods and task accomplishment.

Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) stated that Blake and Mouton used these research findings to build their Managerial Grid leadership model (see Figure 1). While the Managerial Grid leadership model scaled leadership behavior anywhere along the concern for people versus production axis, Blake and Mouton did define five general leadership behavior categories (Foote, 1988). The Country Club manager is most concerned with their personnel in the belief that satisfied employees are productive (Foote, 1988). Impoverished managers exerted minimum effort to get the job done (Foote, 1988). Middle of the Road managers attempted to balance concern for people with concern for production (Foote, 1988). Authority managers focused solely on production and attempted to minimize the human element (Foote, 1988). The Team Manager fostered a relationship of mutual trust and respect with subordinates resulting in increased production from committed team members (Foote, 1988).

Several studies seemed to verify that all a manager had to do was to be a (9,9) or high on both the Concern for Persons axis and Concern for Production axis to be effective (Larson, Hunt & Osborn, 1976). Yet additional analysis by Larson et al. (1976) of 2,474 samples from 14 previous studies resulted in little empirical data that the dual variable model or combined high category of team management accurately predicted employee satisfaction or performance. Rather, the authors found that the single variable model was a better predictor of outcome (satisfaction or performance) and cautioned researchers to be wary of complex models. Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) agreed and stated that, despite the appeal of the Managerial Grid leadership model, it lacked support from scientific studies.

Despite enormous amount of research conducted, behavioral researchers failed to find a universal leadership theory. The research data failed to support correlation of leadership style to performance outcomes, and research findings were inconsistent (Avolio, 2007; Perkel, 2000). Additionally, Avolio (2007) stated that the situational or contingency theory models emerged primarily because the behavior leadership models failed to prove the link between leadership style and follower performance. However, two significant leader behavioral studies, conducted during this period by Ohio State University and the University of Michigan, made significant contributions to the continuing development of leadership theory.

High				Concer	n for Prod	uction			
	9 Co	untry Cl	ub (1,9)	Team Management (9,9)					
	8								
Concern for People	7								
	6								
	5			Middle of the Road (5,5)					
	4								
	3								
	2 Impoverished (1, 1)							Auth	ority (9,1)
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Low					•	•			High
Figure	1. <u>M</u> a	ınagerial	! Grid						

Note: From "The managerial grid for teachers: Evidence, practical applications, and directions for future research," by T. H. Foote, 1988, paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, LA. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 297442). Copyright 1988 by American Psychological Association. Reprinted with permission of the author.

Ohio State University Study

Ohio State University developed a survey questionnaire named the Leader Behavior Description Questionnaire (LBDP), which was administered in industry, military, and educational settings (Halpin, 1957). The LBDP questionnaire was groundbreaking in the study of leadership as it approached leadership behavior from the subordinates' perspective. The LBDP survey was given to the employees with instructions to rate their employer's leadership behaviors. Results of the LBDP scored leader behavior in two fundamental leadership dimensions: consideration or initiating structure (Halpin, 1957). Halpin (1957) defined these two leadership dimensions as:

Initiating structure refers to the leader's behavior in delineating the relationship between himself and the members of his group, and in endeavoring to establish well-defined patterns of organization, channels of communication, and was of getting the job done. Consideration refers to behavior indicative of friendship, mutual trust, respect, and warmth in relationship between the leader and members of the group (p. 1).

Halpin (1957) found that these two leadership dimensions were not correlated and were indeed independent. Additionally, Halpin found that U.S. Air Force aircraft

commanders who scored high on both dimensions were the most effective. Similar results were obtained in the educational setting at a liberal arts college (Halpin, 1957).

University of Michigan Study

The University of Michigan's Institute for Social Research conducted the initial Michigan study at The Prudential Insurance Company among supervisors and clerical workers (Wagner & Hollenbeck, 2002). The researchers followed up this initial research with an additional study at the General Electric Turbine and Generator Plant, which yielded similar results. According to Safferstone (2005), additional studies by the Institute for Social Research found that effective leaders tailored their leadership style to their situation, similar to the contingency leadership model.

The Michigan study differed from the Ohio State study in that it used both a survey instrument and interviewers (Yukl, 2002). Additionally, while the Ohio State study classified leadership behavior along two dimensions, the Michigan study used three dimensions labeled task-oriented, relationship-oriented, and participative leadership behavior (Yukl, 2002). According to Yukl (2002), two of the Michigan study's leadership behavior dimensions (task-oriented and relationship-oriented) are similar to the Ohio study's behavior dimensions (initiating-structure and consideration, respectively), but participative leadership was viewed as separate from relationship-oriented behaviors. Yukl suggested participative leadership was a separate category under the Michigan study because the study revealed that effective leaders participated in more group leadership activities than individual supervision.

Impact of the Ohio State and University of Michigan Studies

The results obtained from the Ohio State and University of Michigan studies were significant to researchers studying leadership and to this quantitative method and correlational design correlational research project for three reasons. First, both studies measured leadership effectiveness from the employee's perspective and not from the leader's perspective. This rating, like any subjective rating, is open to influencers and rater bias. However, Salam, Cox, and Sims (1997) in their research on 360-degree performance ratings, found that the subordinate rating, not the senior raters, nor selfraters, had the strongest correlation with leader behaviors. Second, both studies used survey methods (questionnaire and interview) as their research instruments, which according to Zikmund (2003) is now the most common method of generating primary data. Third, the authors of the Michigan study concluded that leadership style could be represented on a continuum vice belonging to relationship-centered or task-centered leadership styles (Safferstone, 2005). This is similar to modern day argument by Bass (1999) that leadership styles exist across a leadership continuum with transformational at the effective end, down through transactional to laissez-faire or non-leadership style at the ineffective end of the scale. Additionally, the measurement instrument used in this quantitative method and correlational design study was a survey questionnaire research instrument that asked the employee to rate his leader's effectiveness along a Full-Spectrum Leadership continuum. According to Antonakis (2001), the survey questionnaire used in this research, the multifactor leadership questionnaire version 5X (MLQ-5X), is the most frequently used survey instrument to measure Bass and Avolio's (2004) Full-Spectrum Leadership continuum model.

Situational and/or Contingency Theory

When empirical evidence failed to confirmed universally accepted leadership behaviors were the most effective, researchers then attempted to build a comprehensive theory of leadership, called situational theory that encompassed the leader, the follower, and their environment or situation (Paul, Costely, Howell, & Dorfman, 2002; Wagner & Hollenbeck, 2002). Aronson (2001) stated that contingency approaches identified situational conditions under which a leader's role behavior would or would not be effective. The following situational leadership theories are pertinent to this quantitative method and correlational design study as they expanded the definition of leadership and will be reviewed here: Fiedler's Contingency Theory; Path-Goal Theory; Vertical Dyad Linkage; Hersey and Blanchard's Situational Leadership Theory; and the Vroom-Yetten Decision Tree Model.

Fiedler's Contingency Model

The first situational theory was the Contingency Model of Fiedler (1967). Fiedler stated that the leader's effectiveness results from a combination of the leader's personality matched to subordinate relations; the structure of the task; and the positional power of the leader. Fiedler believed that a leader's personality is stable, so to be effective, the organization must match the leader to the appropriate leadership situation. To identify leadership styles, Fiedler developed the least preferred co-worker (LPC) questionnaire. Low scoring responses to the LPC questionnaire would identify task-oriented leadership style while high scoring responses would identify relationship-oriented leadership style (Kest, 2006). Safferstone (2005) stated that in Fiedler's Contingency Model group performance is contingent upon the leader's style and the

degree that the situation allowed the leader to influence subordinates. The ability to influence subordinates was a function of three variables: leader-subordinate relations, task structure, and positional power (Maslanka, 2002). The model depicted task-oriented leaders performed best in-group situations that were either extremely favorable or unfavorable and relationship-oriented leaders performed best in situations that were moderately favorable (Golding, 2003; Wagner & Hollenbeck, 2002).

Fiedler's Contingency Model was the first model that exposed leadership researchers to a different approach then the previous one-best leadership behavior or trait that can be applied universally to any leadership situation approach. However, Northouse (2000) stated that Fiedler's Contingency Model failed to explain why some similarly LPC scored leaders failed while others succeeded and criticized the lack of flexibility within the model. Nevertheless, Yukl (2002) credited Fiedler for providing valuable insights into situational leadership theory.

Path-Goal Theory

House (1971) then proposed the Path-Goal model. House stated that subordinates are intrinsically motivated through awards received based on their achievement of set performance goals vice receiving rewards administrated by the leader. In this model, the leader's role was to motivate subordinates and to remove obstacles that hinder their performance. House stated that the effectiveness of this model depended on situational factors. Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) stated that the leader in the Path-Goal model manipulated follower valences, instrumentalities, and expectances through four leadership behaviors depending on the situation.

Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) stated that the four leadership behavioral styles in the Path-Goal Model were directive leadership; supportive leadership; participative leadership; and achievement-oriented leadership. The authors defined directive leadership as an authoritarian who provided specific directions to and whose subordinates do not participate in the decision-making process. Supportive leadership was defined by the authors as a leader who was friendly, approachable, and showed a genuine concern for their subordinates. The authors defined participative leadership as a leader who asked for and used subordinate suggestions but still makes all the decisions. Lastly, the authors defined achievement-oriented leadership as a leader that set challenging goals for subordinates and showed confidence that they will attain these goals.

According to Horner (1997), the leader chose the appropriate leadership style for the situation. For example, if the task is not well defined the leader would assume a directive leadership role. If the situation demands affiliation, then the leader would assume a supportive leadership role. The Path-Goal Model allows the same leader to change leadership styles to match the current situation.

Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) maintained that the major contribution of the Path-Goal Model is that it provided an excellent theory for understanding the complexities involved in the leadership process. However, because the Path-Goal Model is so complex, a complete comprehensive study of all the different variables has yet to be made (Wagner & Hollenbeck, 2002). Additionally, as suggested by Gibson, Ivancevich, and Donnelly (2000) the Path-Goal Model failed to adequately address the leader-employee relationship and leadership behavior might be reactive to employee behavior.

Vertical Dyad Linkage

Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) stated that the Vertical Dyad Linkage (VDL) model focused on the dyadic measurement score of the relationship between leader behavior and individual follower vice the standard average score of all followers. The premise of the VDL position was that each supervisor-subordinate relationship is unique (Wagner & Hollenbeck, 2002). Wagner and Hollenbeck stated that empirical studies supported the premise that each supervisor-subordinate relationship was unique and had shown that the individual supervisor-subordinate relationship based on dyadic measurement scores were significantly stronger than what the average relationship of the leader to all subordinates ratings were.

Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) stated that the initial VDL model proposed that two categories of leader–follower existed, those classified as the In-Group and those classified as the Out-Group. The In-Group was subordinates identified as those willing and able to support the leader above and beyond their normal job descriptions and were given appropriate responsibilities and recognition (Wagner & Hollenbeck, 2002). The Out-Group was identified as those subordinates either not willing or capable of performing duties beyond their normal job and were assigned mundane tasks (Wagner & Hollenbeck, 2002). However, Liden and Graen (1980) confirmed the presence of a group between the extremes of the In-Group and the Out-Group, and labeled them the Middle-Group.

Liden and Graen (1980) stated that empirical research supported the VDL model's ability to measure the relationship between the leader and individual subordinates, over average group measurements. Identifying the significance of

individual leader-subordinate relationships provided additional insight into another facet of the leadership problem. However, Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) stated that empirical evidence also shows a criticism of the VDL model in that placement within categories is often at the whim of the leader and not solely based on the quality of dyad established between leader and subordinate. Liden and Graen (1980) also pointed out that the VDL model does not generalize down to the first-level supervisor-subordinate level, because the communications at this level are mainly engaged in repetitive daily activities.

Situational Leadership Theory

Hersey and Blanchard developed the Situational Leadership Theory (SLT) model that focused, not on one best style of leading, but insisted that leaders must adapt their leadership style to fit the environment and maturity of their subordinates (Gibson et al., 2000). Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) stated that the SLT model has two decision-making dimensions: task-oriented or relationship-oriented and four distinct types of decision styles: telling, selling, participating, and delegating. The leader matched the dimensions to the subordinate maturity level to determine the most effective leadership style.

Gibson et al. (2000) defined Telling style as the appropriate leadership style to adopt when the leader had high task and low relationship orientation and very low subordinate maturity level (i.e. the leader must tell the subordinate what to do). The Selling leader style was appropriate in situations where the leader had both high task and relationship orientation combined with a low subordinate maturity level (i.e. the leader must clarify any misunderstanding and convince the subordinate that this was the right decision; Gibson et al., 2000). Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) stated that Participating

leader style was appropriate in low task, high relationship orientations and high maturity, whereby the leader involves subordinates in the decision-making process. Lastly, the Delegating style was most effective when task and relationship orientations are high and subordinate maturity is very high. In this style, the leader simply grants to the subordinate full decision-making authority (Wagner & Hollenbeck, 2002).

Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) stated that, while the simplicity of the SLT (similar to the Managerial Grid) had an intuitive appeal, empirical evidence did not support the model's conclusions. Additionally, Gibson et al. (2000) challenged the model's assumption that a leader had the ability to frequently shift and adapt to different leadership styles. However, the SLT models' inclusion of the subordinate maturity variable was a valuable addition to the understanding of this dynamic involved in the leader-subordinate relationship.

Vroom and Yetton Decision Tree Model

Vroom and Yetton (1973) attempted to reduce leaders' unpredictable decision-making behavior by providing a model that would help match the required leadership style to the factors within the current situation. Vroom and Yetton matched required decision-quality and decision-acceptance factors to decision-making styles of autocratic, consultative, delegative, and group based. Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) stated that the leader would answer eight questions, five of which focused on the situation and three of which focused on the follower. The authors stated that the yes and no answer to the eight questions, when answered in sequence, would move the leader through the decision tree and would provide the leader with one or more decision-style options to execute.

Vroom and Yetton's Decision-Tree Model attempted to provide a scientific approach to achieve consistent and better decision-making from leadership. Yukl (2000) asserted that critics challenged the model's assumption that a leader can simply change leadership styles as the model required. Additionally, Vroom and Yetton (1973) noted that leaders did not follow the model's prescription as managers preferred to hold on to decision-making authority vice sharing decision-making within groups. Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) criticized the model as too complex for practical daily use as the model had 18 different possible answers and each answer recommended a leadership solution that had used from one to five different leadership style elements.

Summary of Situational Leadership Theory

Avolio (2007) noted that Fiedlers' Trait Contingency model, Vroom and Yetton's Decision Tree Normative Contingency model, House and Mitchell's Path—Goal theory, and Hersey and Blanchard's Situational Leadership theory all linked different leadership styles to specific contextual demands. These contingency models all attempted to explain how leader behavior varies from one situation to another (Yun, Cox, & Sims, 2006). According to Maslanka (2004), the contingency theories built on both the trait and behavioral leadership theories and were praised for exposing leadership researchers to other factors then simply the traits of the leaders. Yun et al. (2006) stated that intuitively it makes sense that one form of leadership would be more effective than another in specific situations, but research findings are unsupportive. Podsakoff, Mackenzie, Ahearne, and Bommer (1995) summarized 87 previous research studies and conducted 4,786 statistical tests to identify the moderating situational factors that would affect leadership-subordinate behavior and found little empirical support. Perkel (2000) stated

that the contingency theories were criticized for being too complex, vague, and difficult to verify. Despite the criticism, the situational leadership theories added to the leadership body of knowledge and forced leadership researchers to expand the definition of leadership.

Motivational Theories

In addition to the previous leadership theories presented, understanding two motivational theories of equity and expectancy, are important to this quantitative method and correlational design research project as they help explain transactional leadership and the motivational factor that appeals to subordinates for increased performance. Adams' (1963, 1965) Equity Theory model focused on work force behavior and motivation, and comparison of self with others. The Equity Theory model maintained that employees hold certain beliefs about the level of their work efforts and the value of their compensation. Adams (1963, 1965) theorized that conditions of unfairness would create tension between the individual and his work environment. When an employee perceived that his or her level of inputs to rewards, as compared to the level of inputs and rewards of a coworker, was not fair or equitable, then the employee will attempt to find equilibrium. Achievement of equilibrium was through both requesting and receiving an increase in rewards, or by decreasing their level of effort.

The second motivational theory that is important to this quantitative method and correlational design research project is Vroom's Expectancy Theory (VEI) of motivation. Vroom (1964) hypothesized that a link exists between an individual's motivation and their effort and performance. Vroom (1964) identified three variables to this link, which he labeled valance, expectancy, and instrumentality. Vroom (1964) defined valance as the

importance of the reward, expectancy as the belief that an increase in effort would lead to an increase in performance, and instrumentality as the belief that when an individual performed well they would achieve the desired reward. This theory supported the basis of the Path-Goal theory.

Current Leadership Models-Transactional Leadership Theory

Wagner and Hollenbeck (2002) stated that the current leadership model of Transactional Leadership is a result of melding together the previous discussed leadership and motivational theories. The authors stated that according to the Transactional Model of leadership, effective leadership required careful analysis of and reaction to three forces: the leader, the followers, and the situation. The authors maintained that the key to applying this model was the leader's honest self-assessment of their own leadership traits, their own leader behavioral tendencies, and their preferred decision-making styles. They maintained that the second key is to recognize that the appropriate leader behavior and decision-making style is contingent on both the followers and the situation, thus both of these elements also require an honest assessment (Wagner & Hollenbeck, 2002).

According to Popper and Zakkai (1994), the transactional model is still in use.

Organizations and situations where people fill secure, know the situation, and understand the game rules, the dominant expectation will be for transactional relations with the leader (Popper & Zakkai, 1994).

Current Leadership Model--Transformational Leadership Theory

Ozaralli (2003) stated that while traditional or transactional leadership style has been studied by social scientists for decades, and while situational or contingency theory was under review, a new leadership theory, transformational leadership, was introduced and is now the focus of social scientists. Judge and Bono stated that "although numerous other leadership theories continue to attract the attention of organizational researchers, it is safe to say that transformational leadership theory has garnered most of the attention in recent leadership research" (2000, p. 751). While many prior researchers have briefly discussed portions of transformational theory, James MacGregor Burns (1978) was the first researcher to make the distinction between the leader's behavioral style, either transformational or transactional, and the impact on the motivation of their followers. Morris (2003) stated that Burns' work was the seminal text for a new field of leadership studies and has already spawned over 600 doctoral dissertations.

Burns (1978) identified two broad areas of leadership: transactional and transformational. Burns defined transactional leadership as seeking to motivate followers by appealing to their own self-interest. Burns stated that the transactional leadership model was based on reciprocity, where the relationship between leaders and their followers was based on an exchange work-for-pay, promotions, or other rewards and management-by-exception, where the manager exerted corrective action only when the employees failed to meet performance standards.

Burns (1978) described transformational leadership being concerned with engaging the hearts and minds of all employees to pursue the larger organizational goals vice individual goals. Burns described transformational leaders as "elevating, mobilizing, inspiring, exalting, uplifting, preaching, exhorting, and evangelizing" (p. 78). The author also stated that transactional leadership relied only on rewards to motivate, while the transformational leader was capable of inspiring subordinates to achieve results they never dreamed possible. Since its inception, transformational leadership theory has

received more empirical scrutiny than any other leadership model (Barling, Slater, & Kelloway, 2000; Judge & Piccolo, 2004).

Full-Spectrum Leadership Model

Many researchers have expanded on the transformational versus transactional work begun by Burns, most notably Bernard Bass (Bass, 1981, 1985, 1986, 1988, 1990b). Bass differed from Burns in that, instead of two distinct leadership styles (transformation or transaction), he believed that leadership was a continuum with transformational leadership at one end of the leadership continuum and non-leadership or Laissez-Faire leadership at the other (Bass, 1985). Additionally, Abshire (2001) and Bass (1986) have stated that transactional leadership is acceptable as far as it goes, but fundamentally, it was a prescription for organizational mediocrity. Moreover, effective leaders used elements of both transformational and transactional leadership styles in varying degrees and situations (Bass, 1985, 1986; Kuruppuarachchi, 2001; Lles, 2001; Ohman, 2000; O'shea, 2002).

Bass (1997a) and Daft (1999) also maintained that stressful environments contain much uncertainty, volatility, and turbulence. Stress arises when well being is threatened. Groups and organizations experienced stress when confronted with threats to their collective steady states of well being. In many instances, leadership made the difference in coping with the stress. Both authors stated that decision-making was likely to suffer unless effective leadership was provided that can help foster the quality of the decision; such leadership was transformational. Additionally, Bass countered charges from critics that argued transformational leaders were unethical. Bass stated that authentic

transformational leaders acted ethically and only pseudo-transformational leaders acted unethically (Bass, 1996; Bass & Steidlmeier, 1999; Hood, 2003).

Nguyen (2002) stated that Bass' 1985 Full-Spectrum theory of leadership has generated considerable research. Antonakis (2001) declared the theory presented by Bass in 1985 represented a "unifying theory of leadership that encompasses many of the philosophical and ontological assumptions of previous approaches, and unites them under a single, integrated perspective that appears to be logically derived and internally valid" (p. 53).

Bass (1985) developed the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ) based on the factors from the Full-Spectrum Leadership model. The original MLQ has undergone numerous revisions, based on researcher input. The current version, the MLQ-5X includes three components of transformational leadership: charisma, intellectual stimulation and individualized consideration (Bass, Avolio, Jung, & Berson, 2003). Charisma referred to ways leaders acted as role models for subordinates, provided a shared vision, instilled pride and identification with the mission, and clearly communicated expectations (Bass, et al., 2003). The authors defined intellectual stimulation as how leaders made subordinates aware of their own personal value; they also stimulated subordinates imagination and problem solving abilities. The authors described individualized consideration as how the leaders' paid personal attention to each subordinates personal and professional development and needs.

Bass et al. (2003) also summarized the different types of leader behavior in transactional leadership as contingent reward and management by exception—active. The authors identified laissez-faire, or non-leadership, behaviors as either management by

exception-passive or laissez-faire. Contingent reward referred to ways the leader tasked subordinates by promising a reward for satisfactorily completing the assigned task (Bass et al., 2003). The authors identified management by exception *active* as leaders that looked for subordinate deviations from established rules and regulations. The authors described management by exception *passive* as leaders that only engaged subordinates when organizational standards were not met. Laissez-faire leadership was identified by the authors as leaders that followed a hands-off approach, avoided decision-making and abdicated their responsibilities to their subordinates.

These six components captured the elements of the leadership continuum and are embedded in the multifactor leadership questionnaire (MLQ) originally designed by Bass and Avolio (2000, 2004). According to Antonakis (2001), the multifactor leadership questionnaire version 5X (MLQ-5X) was the most frequently used survey instrument to measure Bass and Avolio's Full-Spectrum Leadership Continuum model. The MLQ-5X has been validated by numerous researchers (Antonakis, 2001; Bass, et al., 2003; Bass & Riggo, 2006).

Summary

Current research continues to examine the Full-Spectrum Leadership model across the spectrum of leadership roles. Since its inception, transformational leadership theory has received more empirical scrutiny than any other leadership model (Barling, Slater, & Kelloway, 2000; Judge & Piccolo, 2004). Black (2006) and Durante (2005) both studied the impact that leadership styles has on the U.S. military and provided recommendations in selection and training of future leaders. Bass (1997b), Derzsy (2003), and Riley (2006) studied the impact of leadership styles in sales organizations.

Garcia (2004) studied leadership styles and interpersonal conflict. Gingras (2006) studied leadership styles and the impact on critical thinking by subordinates. Lyon (2003) and Nwuneli (2006) studied leadership styles impact on teams. Nguyen (2002) studied the link between cognitive ability and transformational leadership. Perkel (2000) and Spineli (2004) studied the impact of leadership styles of hospitals and the impact to quality of patient care. Trombetta (2006) studied transformational leadership in a non-profit transactional organization.

While the literature on the Full-Spectrum Leadership model continues to grow rapidly, very few studies have examined how transformational and transactional leadership predict performance (Bass et al., 2003). The authors also stated that previous studies of the Full-Spectrum Leadership model have taken place in relatively stable environments. This quantitative method and correlational design study contributes to the body of knowledge on Full-Spectrum Leadership theory through examination of the relationship between leadership styles and recruiter production in a stressful environment.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Effective leadership is a major managerial issue (Smith & Rupp, 2004).

Leadership within an organization's recruiting component is critical, as recruitment is the number one human resources challenge (Bielski, 2007; Deloitte & Touche, 2001;

Leonard, 1999). Recruiting is one of the Navy's top priorities and is vital to the success of the Navy with approximately 11% of the active duty Fleet replaced each year with new recruits (United States Navy, 2007; Commander Navy Recruiting Command, 2006).

According to Mullen (2007), finding qualified replacements is a tough challenge when only 30% of high school graduates meet the moral, mental, and physical fitness qualification standards of the United States Navy. This same population is actively recruited by the sister services, corporate America, and colleges and universities.

Additionally, Mullen (2007) stated that finding and recruiting qualified personnel with the right mix of education, diversity, and skill sets from that limited available replacement personnel pool is further complicated in today's era of diminished propensity for military service.

This quantitative method and correlational design study examined the relationship that leadership styles had on recruiter production of U.S. Naval personnel assigned as recruiters to Commander, Navy Recruiting Command. The relationship between leadership styles of Naval recruiting leaders and recruiter production was examined quantitatively through a study employing Bass and Avolio's (2004) Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire 5X (MLQ-5X) 3rd edition. The study was designed to address the following two research questions:

- 1. What, if any, relationship exists between leadership style and recruiter production?
- 2. What, if any, relationship exists between specific leadership styles and incidents of non-successful recruiters?

The hypothesis for Research Question 1 was formulated to assess whether a relationship existed between leadership style and recruiter production. The hypothesis for Research Question 2 addressed whether a relationship existed between leadership style and incidents of non-successful recruiters. The hypotheses for Research Questions 1 and 2, in null and alternative form, are as follows:

- 1. What, if any, relationship exists between leadership styles and recruiter production?
 - H1₀: No correlation exists between leadership styles and recruiter production.
 - H1a: Correlation exists between leadership styles and recruiter production.
- 2. What, if any, relationship exist between specific leadership styles and incidents of non-successful recruiters?
 - H2₀: No correlation exists between specific leadership styles and incidents of non-successful recruiters.
 - H2a: Correlation exists between leadership styles and incidents of nonsuccessful recruiters.

The focus of this chapter is on the research method employed for this quantitative method and correlational design study that examined the relationship between leadership style and recruiting production within the U.S. Navy Recruiting Command. The chapter

will begin with an overview of the research design, participants, the survey instrument, and the operational definitions used. Next, the chapter will discuss the specific data collection and analysis procedures used. Methodology assumptions, limitations, and delimitations are then discussed. The chapter will conclude with an ethical assurance discussion and a chapter summation.

Research Methods and Design

The weakness, as Antonakis (2001) stated, in dealing with leadership research is that leadership has been difficult to measure. The vast majority of research reviewed in Chapter 2 that has studied the effects different leadership styles has on worker productivity has been through the use of quantitative method and correlational design research survey instruments. These surveys have been either questionnaire or with interviewers. This research also used a survey questionnaire because it is relatively inexpensive and quick. The use of interviewers, including telephonic interviews, are both too time consuming and expensive. Direct observation is also too time consuming, expensive, and inserting an observer into these small recruiting offices becomes obvious, resulting in a change of normal behavior (Zikmund, 2003).

The strength of a questionnaire approach is in the response speed and the relatively low cost to obtain results. However, Zikmund (2003) pointed out that "a manager evaluating the quality of a survey-based research project must estimate the accuracy of the survey . . . the two major sources of survey error are random sampling error and systematic error" (p. 176). Zikmund (2003) further explained that systematic error consists of respondent error or administrative error.

Random sampling error was minimized in this study through increased sample size, geographically separated respondents, and a selection participant mix of 50% from fleet concentration areas and 50% from non-fleet concentration areas. Geographical separation was obtained by selection of two East Coast NRDs, two Midwest NRDs, and two West Coast NRDs. Three of the recruiting districts (Richmond, Chicago, and San Diego) are located within Fleet Concentration areas. The other three recruiting districts (Miami, Houston, and Portland) are from non-fleet concentration areas.

According to Zikmund (2003), systematic errors consist of respondent errors and administrative errors. Zikmund (2003) further stated that respondent errors consists of nonresponse error and response bias. As this study will potentially benefit Navy Recruiting, Navy Recruiting District leadership and sample recruiter population were requested to participate by the Commander of Navy Recruiting (Appendix C). Historically, Navy Recruiting Command has experienced low response rates of approximately 30% during previous surveys (John Noble, personal communication, July 28, 2008). Support from the higher headquarters yielded significant higher responses that reduced, but did not eliminate, the nonresponse error.

As respondents were rating the leadership style of their superior, they may not have answered the questions honestly, but could have provided answers that they believed would not reflect badly on themselves, their superiors, or their recruiting district, unwittingly introducing response bias (Trochim, 2001). To mitigate this response bias effect, the Procedures Document (Appendix D), stressed to each participant that honestly was crucial and no leadership style was preferred. Additionally, the primary researcher

included his contact information in the Informed Consent Letter (Appendix E) to enable potential respondents to ask for clarifying information.

Zikmund (2003) stated administrative errors included data processing errors and interviewer errors and bias. Administrative data processing errors were minimized as only the primary researcher had access, processed, and compared MLQ-5X survey results to the established recruiter production numbers. Interviewer errors and bias were minimized through use of the MLQ-5X survey instrument and comparing survey results to the already established recruiter production numbers.

Zikmund (2003) also discussed several errors that must be controlled to have internal and external validity. Research duration for this quantitative method and correlational design study was 120 days. This short research duration minimized the internal validity threats of history, maturation, and mortality (Zikmund, 2003).

Additionally, this quantitative method and correlational design study only used the MLQ-5X and the 33-Item Emotional Intelligence survey instruments, which reduced the internal validity threat of instrumentation, and the study did not administer pretest or posttest questionnaires reducing the internal validity testing effect threat (Zikmund, 2003). Lastly, this quantitative method and correlational design study minimized internal validity selection threat by using a large sample population geographically dispersed across the U.S. (Zikmund, 2003).

External validity was controlled through use of the MLQ survey in the actual field environment vice lab results. It is anticipated that these results will generalize beyond the Navy Recruiting population to the recruiting populations of the similar structured sister services recruiting populations. Additionally, it is anticipated that these results will

generalize to other recruiting populations in government agencies, colleges and universities, corporate America and to organizations with widely disbursed sales-forces.

Participants

Trochim (2001) stated that researchers use power analysis to determine the minimum number of samples required to be obtained to conduct a meaningful study. Moreover, as stated by High (2000) and the University of California at Los Angeles (UCLA) (Statistical Computing Seminars, n.d.), if the study contains too little data it is considered low powered and the results are indecisive. The low-powered study will lack the precision to provide reliable answers to the questions the researcher was investigating and may cause chaos in the literature base by report conflicting results with similar studies.

Zikmund (2003) stated that the formula for determining minimum sample size is $n = \frac{Z^2 pq}{E^2}$. The formula is defined as n is the minimum number of samples; Z (squared) is the desired confidence level; p is the estimated number of successful samples; q is the number of estimated failures; and E (squared) is the desired error rate. With a 95% confidence level, and an average effect level of .5, an error rate of \pm 5 percent, the minimum sample size is $n = \frac{1.96^2 * 0.5 * 0.5}{0.05^2}$, n = 385.

Zikmund (2003) and UCLA (Statistical computing Seminars, n.d.) both offer advice that a literature review might provide a better effect size number then the arbitrary standard average effect of 0.5 used by most researchers. Reviewing the study conducted by Masi and Cooke (2000) on leadership effect in U.S. Army recruiting, the authors found significant effect between leadership style and production. According to Coe

(2002), a significant effect size is the equivalent of 0.80. Substituting a significant effect of 0.8 into the equation results in a required sample size of 683.

For this qualitative correlational study, the population is not infinite but rather the sum of all Navy recruiters was approximately 5,000 (Commander Navy Recruiting Command, 2007). Zikmund (2003) stated the formula for determining minimal sample size for finite populations is $n = \frac{n_0}{1 + \frac{(n_0 - 1)}{N}}$, where n_0 is equal to number of successful

samples and N is the finite population. Substituting 683 for n_0 and 5000 for N, the minimum sample size is 601.

Six NRDs, Richmond, Miami, Chicago, Houston, San Diego, and Portland were selected to participate for geographic separation and for a 50% mix of Fleet and non-Fleet concentration areas. Commander, Navy Recruiting Command (2007) stated that the total qualified recruiters onboard these six NRDs and the leadership at their respective NRDs totaled approximately 1,200 personnel. The MLQ-5X survey instruments was issued to 100% of assigned qualified recruiters. Commander, Navy Recruiting Command, estimated a response rate of 70% (John Noble, personal communication, October 6, 2008), which would provide the researcher 960 successfully completed surveys. The actual results returned were 706 usable surveys, which exceeded the power analysis requirement to conduct a meaningful study.

Materials/Instruments

The primary survey instrument used in this study was the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ-5X) developed by Bass and Avolio (2000, 2004), Appendix A. Combined with the recruiter production currently tracked by each recruiting district, the

MLQ-5X survey results answered the primary research question. The 45 question MLQ-5X survey took approximately 15 minutes to complete (Commander Melanie O'Brien, personal communication, January 16, 2009). The MLQ has been in use for the last 25 years and has been updated several times (Bass & Avolio, 2004). The current version, the MLQ-5X 3rd edition, was last updated in 2004 (Bass & Avolio, 2004) and was purchased from Mind Garden, Inc.

According to Bass and Avolio (2004), the MLQ-5X identifies leadership style along the Full-Spectrum Leadership continuum by measuring nine factors, five factors associated with transformational leadership style, two factors associated with transactional leadership style, and two factors associated with laissez-faire or non-leadership style on an interval scale (Bass & Avolio, 2004). The authors stated that the MLQ-5X measures idealized attributes, idealized behaviors, inspiration, individual consideration, and intellectual stimulation as the factors associated with transformational leadership. Additionally, the authors stated that the MLQ measures contingent reward and management-by-exception (active) as the two factors associated with transactional leadership and management-by-exception (passive) and laissez-faire as the two factors associated with non-leadership.

According to Bass and Avolio (2000), the reliability of the factors measuring transformational, transactional and laissez-faire behaviors in the MLQ ranged from .74 to .94. Durante (2005) stated that this "reliability for all scales are greater than the standard cut-off for internal consistency of >.70" (p. 55). In addition to Bass and Avolio, the MLQ-5X has also been validated by other researchers (Antonakis, 2001; Bass, et al., 2003; Bass & Riggo, 2006).

The secondary instrument in this study is the 33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale developed by Schutte, Malouff, Hall, Haggerty, Cooper, Golden, and Dronheim (1998), Appendix B. The authors allow free use of the 33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale by researchers (Schutte et al., 1998). The intent of this second instrument was not to directly answer research questions, but rather to screen participants and eliminate data that might skew MLQ-5X survey results to recruiter production comparisons.

The 33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale was used to help verify recruiter morale issues identified by the Navy Recruiting District. Each recruiting district conducts an annual organizational assessment. This assessment measures the command's climate through review of equal opportunity, sexual harassment, ethical performance of superiors, discrimination, and general morale issues (Chief of Naval Operations [OPNAV], 2001).

The 33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale (Schutte et al., 1998) measures an individual's ability to monitor one's own emotions and feelings and to observe and react to others' displayed emotions. Some of the traits that emotions impacts are an individual's self-control, zeal, persistence, and the ability to motivate themselves, which in turn influence an individual's productivity (Goleman, 1995; Law, Wong, & Song, 2004). Emotional Intelligence has been identified as an individual's ability to monitor, evaluate, and make appropriate changes in one's own mood, which not only affects that individual's morale but also the morale of coworkers, especially subordinates (Abraham, 1999; Barling, Slater, & Kelloway, 2000). Abraham also stated that the 33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale has established reliability value of .78 and internal consistency estimates ranged from .87 to .90.

The combination of the annual organizational assessment with the 33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale survey instrument helped screen selection of recruiters that participated. Screening was performed after the participating recruiters completed both survey instruments. Leadership attributes and perceived outcomes survey scores along with recruiter production data from identified recruiters with morale issues were removed from the data analysis to reduce skewing results.

Operational Definitions of Variables

In this quantitative method and correlational design study, the MLQ-5X survey instrument measured constructs of recruiter production, leadership styles, and incidents of non-successful recruiters. According to Bass and Avolio (2004), the MLQ-5X survey instrument measures the full range leadership spectrum. Table 1 summarizes these three constructs and following Table 1 is a definition of each attribute.

Table 1

Operational Variables

Construct	Variable	Abbreviation
Production	Recruiter Production	Y ₁
Leadership	Leadership Styles	X_1
Non-successful recruiter	Number of non-successful recruiters	Y_2
Denotes independent variable		
^y Denotes dependent variable		

Note: Recruiter production: Dependent Variable (Y₁). For this quantitative method and correlational design research, recruiter production was defined as the number of new

recruits contracted per month (Commander Rich Soucie, personal communication, July 27, 2006). Measurement of recruiter production is on an absolute zero or ratio scale.

Leadership Style: Independent Variable (X₁). For this quantitative method and correlational design research, leadership style was defined using Bass and Avolio (2004) Full-Spectrum Leadership model, with transformational leadership at one end of the spectrum, down through transactional to non-leadership at the opposite end of the spectrum. Leaders who measure high on the interval scale of the MLQ-5X scale surveys' five transformational factors of Idealized Influence, Idealized Behaviors, Inspirational Motivation, Intellectual Stimulation, and Individualized Consideration are defined as Transformational leaders (Bass & Avolio, 2004). Transactional leaders are leaders who measure high on the interval scale of the MLQ-5X surveys' two transactional factors of Contingent Reward and Management-by-Exception (Active). Non-leadership consists of leaders who measure high on the interval scale of the MLQ-5X surveys' Management-by-Exception (Passive) and laissez-faire factors (Bass & Avolio, 2004).

Non-successful Recruiter: Dependent Variable (Y₂). For this quantitative method and correlational design research, non-successful recruiter was defined as a recruiter that failed to consistently recruit 0.8 new recruits per month (Rear Admiral Robin Braun, Deputy Commander, Navy Recruiting Command, personal communication, August 24th, 2008). Similar to recruiter production, this is an absolute zero based measurement.

Data Collection, Processing, and Analysis

Research data was collected by means of two survey instruments, the MLQ-5X and the 33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale. This data was supplemented by each respective NRD's annual organizational assessment and their recruiter production

records. Commander, Navy Recruiting has requested the specified NRD's participate in this investigation, Appendix C.

The surveys were forwarded to the Commanding Officer of each participating NRD. Included with the surveys were the participants' informed consent agreement form, Appendix E, and a cover letter from the Commander of Navy Recruiting explaining the purpose of this research, Appendix C. An additional letter, Appendix D, from the researcher detailed the exact procedures on how to administer the surveys to maintain confidentiality. The Commanding Officer for each participating NRD administered the survey instruments during their quarterly training conference which included all members of the command. The surveys took approximately 15 minutes to complete and accomplished without severely impacting the NRD training schedule.

Included in the researcher's letter to the Commanding Officer was a request that the Commanding Officer forward the enclosed survey instruments to their Educational Services Officer (ESO) and stress to the ESO the need to maintain confidentiality.

According to the Chief of Naval Operations (OPNAV, 2005), one of the ESO's roles in the command is to administer promotion exams which require safeguarding. Therefore, the ESO is already trained in proper procedures to protect the completed survey instruments The ESO was instructed to mail the completed survey instruments directly to the researcher.

The Commanding Officer read a short letter explaining the purpose of the investigation, stressed the confidentiality of the investigation, and then turned over the proceedings to the ESO. Upon completion of the surveys, the ESO collected and sealed all surveys and then mailed the completed surveys back to the researcher. The researcher

requested the additional recruiter production documentation and the Command Climate survey from each participating NRD's Commanding Officer. The researcher then collated the survey results to the additional data and began analysis.

The statistical methodology used is determined by the research questions and the chosen research design (Trochim, 2003). For this study, to answer research question 1:

1. What, if any, relationship exists between leadership styles and recruiter production?

H₁₀: No correlation exists between leadership styles and recruiter production.

H1a: Correlation exists between leadership styles and recruiter production. The MLQ-5X 3rd edition survey instrument (Bass & Avolio, 2004) was used. The participants' responses to the MLQ-5X survey questions identified the independent variable of which leadership styles exist within Navy Recruiting. The researcher then examined the relationship between identified leadership styles within Navy Recruiting and the dependent variable of recruiting production that the respective recruiting districts already track.

To answer the second research question:

2. What, if any, relationship exist between specific leadership styles and incidents of non-successful recruiters?

H2₀: No correlation exists between specific leadership styles and incidents of non-successful recruiters.

H2a: Correlation exists between leadership styles and incidents of nonsuccessful recruiters. Again the participants responded to the MLQ-5X survey questions, which identified the independent variable of which leadership styles exist within Navy Recruiting. The researcher then examined the relationship between identified leadership styles within Navy Recruiting and the dependent variable of non-successful recruiters that the respective recruiting districts already track.

The first statistical procedure used was simple descriptive statistics. According to Aczel and Sounderpandian (2006), descriptive statistics allow the researcher to report the distribution, central tendency and the dispersion between multiple groups. Finding significantly higher production differences between recruiting stations and recruiting districts with one leadership style versus those recruiting stations and recruiting districts displaying the other leadership styles was a strong indicator that particular leadership style is positively correlated with recruiter production. Additional analysis of a Chi-Squared test for goodness of fit analysis was conducted to compare observed values to expected values and to test whether the two variables are correlated or are independent (Aczel & Sounderpandian, 2006).

The next statistical procedure used was Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). Aczel and Sounderpandian (2006) stated that ANOVA allows the researcher to compare means of two or more groups with only one independent variable. For this research, ANOVA procedures were used to test the significance of the means between the six widely geographically disbursed recruiting districts.

The Pearson Product Moment Correlation followed the ANOVA procedure. Aczel and Sounderpandian (2006) stated that correlation analysis is a statistical technique that allows the researcher to model the relationship between two variables. This statistical test

measured the covariation between two variables and provides indication of the magnitude and direction of the linear relationship between the variables (Aczel & Sounderpandian, 2006).

The last statistical procedure used was the Partial Correlation test. Zikmund (2003) stated this test determines the percentage of variance in the dependent variable attributed to an independent variable while holding other independent variables constant. This procedure allowed the researcher to determine the correlation of one leadership style to perceived outcomes of extra effort, effectiveness, and job satisfaction while holding the other two leadership styles constant.

Methodological Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Two assumptions were made in this proposed research. First, that the participants would understand and honestly answer the questions contained in the two survey instruments. Second, that recruiting conditions are similar across all six Navy Recruiting Districts studied.

In addition to the two assumptions in this research, there are three limitations. These limitations are generalization, use of self-report questions, and the potential for omission of potentially significant moderating or extraneous variables from the data analysis. Regarding the ability to generalize outside of U.S. Navy Recruiting, there are several concerns to address. First, the research design of this proposed research is non-experimental and a cross-sectional study vice a longitudinal study. The cross-sectional study is necessitated by the 33% annual turnover in recruiting personnel. Because this study used the non-experimental and cross-sectional study elements, questions of causality could not be addressed. Second, leadership style in a bureaucracy as large as the

U.S. Navy may be radically different from the private sector. This potentially includes the definition, understanding, and perception of both leaders and subordinates regarding the leadership factors the MLQ-5X survey instrument is attempting to identify.

The standard concerns using self-report surveys to assess the relationships between variables apply in this research. These concerns include relying on voluntary responses and situational bias. The rating tendencies of those recruiters who elect not to participate may be more or less liberal than the trend from those recruiters who participated. Additionally, as the survey is a snapshot in time, the current recruiting situation, whether that recruiting group is ahead or behind their recruiting goals may affect current perceptions of leadership style.

Lastly, the potential exists that additional moderating or extraneous variables might be omitted from the study. These variables might have a greater impact on recruiter production than leadership style. Variables like national advertising and marketing, budgetary constraints, market-share formula, or other production related tools might make the entire recruiting organization more productive.

The delimitations were the population and the sample. The population was limited to only the current U.S. Navy recruiters. The sample was limited to approximately 25% of the available U.S. Navy recruiters and to recruiting production for the past fiscal year.

Ethical Assurances

Researcher Concerns

According to the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of San Diego State University (SDSU), for proper ethical research the primary researcher must determine, acknowledge, and manage all potential risk to the research participants (San Diego State University, 2008). For a social and behavioral science research, such as this research project, the

Institutional Review Board of San Diego State University also considers that the two primary risks to participants are violation of their privacy and breach of confidentiality. The key to minimizing the violation of participant privacy is to obtain informed consent (San Diego State University, 2008). For this qualitative correlational study, it involved surveying U.S. Navy recruiters with the MLQ-5X survey instrument and with the 33-item Emotional Scale. As this study will potentially benefit Navy Recruiting, participation from the Recruiting District leadership and sample recruiter population was requested by the Commander of Navy Recruiting. However, as explained by Commander Len Friddle (personal communication, April 2, 2008) often when a senior officer makes a request, enlisted sailors translate that request as a directive and that participation is not voluntary.

To prevent undue influence over this captive audience (i.e. Naval personnel only), all communications from either the researcher or the organization being researched, stressed that participation was voluntary and any participant was free to withdraw from the survey at any time for any reason. Additionally, for this research project, written communication stressed that no one particular leadership style is preferred. Lastly, all communication clearly spelled out that any potential benefits eventually realized will probably not benefit those recruiters who completed the surveys. According to Commander Len Friddle (personal communication, April 2, 2008), approximately one-third of assigned recruiters change out each year. It is anticipated that the research process, including presenting conclusion to the Commander of Navy Recruiting Command, will take at least one year. Consequently, at least one-third of those recruiters who participated in the research will have transferred back to the Fleet and will not benefit from any potential leadership changes made.

The second primary risk, breach of confidentiality, is a serious concern in this type of study because the participants must be confident that their personal data is properly safeguarded. If a participant feels that their personal data or opinions is not adequately protected then the participant faces potential embarrassment and perhaps opens them up for a superior's retribution. The participant would either refuse to be included in the research or would not be truthful in answering questions in the survey instrument skewing the results of the research (Zikmund, 2003).

NRD Commanding Officer and ESO and briefed them on the purpose and procedures of this research project. The researcher requested that the NRD Commanding Officer introduce the research to their entire command during that NRD's quarterly training conference. The researcher forwarded the required number of survey instruments directly to the ESO and stressed to the ESO the need to maintain confidentiality. According to the Chief of Naval Operations (OPNAV, 2005), one of the ESO's roles in the command is to administer promotion exams which require safeguarding. Therefore, the ESO is already trained in proper procedures to protect the completed survey instruments The ESO was instructed to mail the completed survey instruments directly to the researcher. The researcher also safeguarded the completed survey instruments by locking them in a file drawer and only publishing collated results.

Northcentral University IRB Concerns

For all proposed Northcental University (NCU) research involving human subjects, the researcher must complete the NCU Institution Review Board (IRB) application and must receive NCU IRB approval prior to proceeding with proposed research (Northcentral University, 2007). The NCU IRB reviewed the researcher's IRB

application to assure the safety of participants and protection of their rights (Trochim, 2001). Specifically, the NCU IRB evaluated the IRB application on the research methodology and participant selection criteria. This research abided by the three principles of: respect for persons; beneficence; and justice (San Diego State University, 2008). The NCU IRB ensured the principle of respect for persons was achieved through the primary researcher's process of informed consent and through special protection of subjects with limited decision-making ability. Informed consent includes any special caveats of deliberate deception, primary researcher or subject financial interests, and support from the cooperating institution (Northcentral University, 2007). Additionally, the researcher described the procedures used to ensure confidentiality of participant information.

The researcher also demonstrated that the proposed research achieved the principle of beneficence by limiting risk and maximizing potential benefits and justified to the NCU IRB that the principle of justice was met by selecting participants without bias (Appendix F). NCU IRB approved this research project January 22, 2009.

Summary

This chapter discussed the methodology employed in this research. Similar to research discussed in Chapter 2, this study was also a quantitative method and correlational design research conducted via questionnaire survey instruments. The participants, instruments, data collection, processing, and analysis procedures used were discussed. Two methodological assumptions, three limitations, and one delimitation were presented. This chapter concluded with an assurance that no deception was employed in this research. All communication between the participants and higher headquarter

leadership, Navy Recruiting District leadership, or the researcher stressed the voluntary nature of study. Additionally, all participants were informed of the purpose, confidentiality procedures in place, and ultimate use of this research via the signed informed consent form.

Chapter 4: Findings

Bielski (2007) stated that recruiting is one of the top human resource challenges facing organizations today. The U.S. Navy annually recruits approximately 11% of their active duty force (Commander Navy Recruiting Command, 2006). Masi and Cooke (2000) stated that leaders motivate subordinates to work more effectively and achieve increased production. This study was designed to investigate the leadership styles of the recruiting leaders in six U.S. Navy Recruiting Districts (NRD) in terms of transformational (TF), transactional (TA), and laissez-faire (LF) characteristics, by utilizing Bass's 2004 Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire. The relationship between these identified leadership styles and recruiting effectiveness were then examined.

This chapter begins with an introduction to the issue of the importance of leadership in an organization's recruiting component. Then the description of the instrument and rate of return will be discussed. Afterwards statistical analysis of the data is presented.

The primary goal of the data collection in this study was to determine what relationship exists between leadership style and recruiting production. Leadership styles displayed by the first, second, and third-level supervisors, within the six participating Navy Recruiting Districts (NRD) were explored to determine what relationship exists between leadership style and recruiter production. Bass and Avolio's (2004) Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ-5X 3rd ed.) was the survey instrument used to identify leadership characteristics of the first three management levels of each recruiting district. The recruiter production results already tracked by each recruiting district were compared to the survey results.

The secondary goal of this study was to determine whether a relationship existed between leadership styles and incidents of non-successful recruiters. The production data received was combined at the recruiting station, zone, and district level. This data showed that 57 of the 251 recruiting stations failed to achieve production goals. However, only 19 of these recruiting stations Recruiters-in-Charge (RINC) were identified and included in the leadership survey. Additionally, in order to protect privacy, individual recruiter production data was not included. The researcher could not ascertain the specific number of non-successful recruiters assigned to these 19 recruiting stations. The recruiting district Commanding Officers denied a separate request for this data, despite reassurances that the privacy of all participants would be protected. Consequently, the second hypothesis in this study could not be investigated.

The MLQ-5X Rater and Leader Surveys along with the 33-Item Emotional Intelligence Surveys (Appendix A and B) were distributed in bulk to the participating districts. Accompanying the surveys were three amplifying letters. The survey cover letter (Appendix D) explained specific procedures to follow. The Navy Recruiting Headquarters (Appendix C) letter stressed the importance of the research to Navy Recruiting and requested personnel in these districts participate. The Participation Consent letter (Appendix E) emphasized the voluntary nature of the survey.

Due to the sensitive nature of subordinates rating seniors within the military (Black, 2006), the methodology employed ensured that respondents remained anonymous. Specifically, Navy recruiters at these six NRDs were asked to anonymously complete the MLQ-5X and only identify the leader they were rating. Managers at these six NRDs completed a self-rating leader survey in addition to rating their supervisor.

Participants were asked to anonymously rate the frequency of different leader behaviors via the MLQ-5X on a 5-point Likert scale. The responses available began at 4.0 (frequently, if not always); and descended down through 3.0 (fairly often); 2.0 (sometimes); 1.0 (once in a while); to 0.0 (not at all). Upon completion, each district's Educational Services Officer sealed and mailed the gathered surveys and forms to the pre-arranged address.

Respondent characteristics are not available for each survey because surveys were anonymous with no demographic data collected. Additionally, Bass and Avolio (2004) maintained that demographic differences of age, race, or ethnicity do not indicate systematic differences in MLQ ratings. To reduce errors caused by difference in recruiter proficiency, survey instruments were issued only to fully trained and qualified recruiters in accordance with procedures detailed in Appendix D.

The surveys were scored using the MLQ-5X scoring key provided by Mind Garden, Inc., Appendix G. Of the 45 questions in the MLQ-5X survey, 36 questions dealt with leadership style and nine questions dealt with perceived outcomes. Participants answered four questions for each of the five transformational leadership attributes of idealized influence (attributed), idealized influence (behavior), inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individual consideration. Participants also answered four questions for both transactional leadership attributes of contingent reward and management by exception (active) and for both of the laissez-faire leadership attributes of management by exception (passive) and laissez-faire. Scores were averaged within each leadership attribute. Then the leadership attribute scores were averaged to obtain transformational, transactional, or laissez-faire leadership style scores.

Participants answered three questions on extra effort (EE), four questions on effectiveness (EFF), and two questions on job satisfaction (SAT). Perceived outcome scores were also averaged. However, these categories were not averaged to arrive at one overarching perceived outcome score.

Results

The six participating NRDs were sent 1,200 MLQ-5X and 33-Item Emotional Intelligence surveys. A total of 830 MLQ-5X surveys and 33-Item Emotional Intelligence surveys were returned. After screening participants for morale issues and removing surveys that were only partially completed there remained 706 usable surveys. This represented a 59% percent response rate. This result exceeded the power analysis requirement of 601 to conduct a meaningful study with a finite population (Zikmund, 2003). The 706 usable surveys rated the leadership style attributes of 47.5% (146 of the 307) of the total leaders within the six NRDs. Of the 251 Recruiters in Charge (RINC) first-level leaders at Navy Recruiting Stations (NRS) within these 6 NRDs, 101 (40%) were rated. Of the 47 Zone Supervisors (second-level leaders) in these six NRDs, 27 (57%) were rated. All of the 18 leaders from the 6 District Headquarters (third-level leaders) were rated. Data in Appendix H summarizes the response rate.

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to test the null hypotheses that mean values did not differ for variables of production, transformational leadership attributes, transactional leadership attributes, and laissez-faire leadership attributes among the six recruiting districts. In each case, the obtained value of F was less than the critical value of F, all null hypotheses were not rejected, and therefore there were no differences in these variables among the six recruiting districts. Additionally, Tukey pair wise comparison of

group means revealed no significant differences between the sample data obtained from the six NRDs for production, transformational leadership attributes, transactional leadership attributes, and laissez-faire leadership attributes.

Kruskal-Wallis test compared the results from the NRD sample (N=146) against the normative sample (N=27,285) obtained from Bass and Avolio (2004). According to Aczel and Sounderpandian (2006) the Kruskal-Wallis test is sensitive to differences in the locations of the populations. The null hypothesis used was the NRD sample data has a normal distribution. The Kruskal-Wallis test resulted in x^2 (1, N=146) = 0.286, p=0.593 for TF leadership style, x^2 (1, N=146) = 0.157, p=0.692 for transactional leadership attributes, and x^2 (1, N=146=1.033, p=0.309 for laissez-faire leadership attributes. The p-values of 0.286 and higher indicated the null hypotheses are not rejected, and sample data is normally distributed (Aczel & Sounderpandian, 2006).

Chi-square goodness-of-fit test compared results obtained from the NRD sample (N=146) to expected results derived from the normative sample (N=27,285) obtained from Bass and Avolio (2004). The null hypothesis used was the NRD sample data has a normal distribution. The chi-square goodness-of-fit test resulted in x^2 (3, N=146) = 2.78, p=0.25 for TF; x^2 (3, N=146) = 2.67, p=0.875 for transactional leadership attributes; and x^2 (3, N=146) = 1.00, p=0.607 for laissez-faire leadership attributes. The score yielded a p-value of 0.25 and higher indicating null hypotheses are not rejected, and sample data is normally distributed (Aczel & Sounderpandian, 2006).

The average score of the combined recruiting leadership study (N = 706) for each leadership attribute and the total score for each leadership style were compared to the leadership attributes and styles scores contained in Bass and Avolio (2004) normative

sample (N = 27,285). Perceived outcomes from the combined recruiting leadership study were compared against the Bass and Avolio (2004) normative sample (Appendix I). Overall the NRD leaders were scored slightly higher in both transformational and laissez-faire leadership styles and significantly higher in transactional leadership style than the leaders from the normative sample. The NRD leaders were also scored slightly higher in perceived outcome of extra effort, scored similarly in efficiency and slightly lower in job satisfaction than the leaders from the normative sample.

Individual recruiting districts leadership style scores were compared to the 2004 normative sample. The perceived outcomes from individual recruiting districts were compared to the 2004 normative sample. The transformational and laissez-faire leadership style means for individual recruiting districts were higher than the 2004 normative sample for five of the six districts. All six of the transactional leadership style means for individual recruiting districts were higher than the 2004 normative sample. The six individual recruiting districts had higher perceived outcome scores than the 2004 normative sample for extra effort. For perceived outcomes of efficiency, four of the six districts had higher perceived outcome scores than the 2004 normative sample. However, for perceived outcome of job satisfaction, only two districts had higher scores than the 2004 normative sample. Data is displayed in Appendix J.

Leadership style and perceived outcome scores for the first, second, and third-level leadership positions were compared to the average leadership style scores from the 2004 normative sample. Third-level leadership position of CO scored significantly higher in all categories than the 2004 normative sample. First-level leadership position of RINC scored higher in five of the six categories than the 2004 normative sample. For the

second-level leadership position of ZS and for both of the third-level leadership positions of CR and EPO, leadership style scored at or above the 2004 normative sample; however, perceived outcome scores varied from significantly above to significantly below the 2004 normative sample. Data is displayed in Appendix K.

Navy recruiting leadership styles were compared by leadership hierarchy to the combined sample. Navy recruiting third-level leadership positions of CO scored significantly higher than the combined NRD mean for transformational and transactional leadership styles and for all three perceived outcomes. Additionally, the CO position has the highest recruiting production average. First-level leadership positions of RINC had high perceived outcome scores but similar leadership style means as the combined Navy recruiting survey mean. Additionally, the RINC recruiting production averages were lower than the combined recruiting survey averages. The second-level leadership positions of ZS had the lowest leadership style, perceived outcomes, and average recruiting production. Data is contained in Appendix L.

The leadership styles, independent of leadership level, were compared to recruiting production averages. The observed leadership styles were categorized as high combined transformational and transactional attributes; high transformational attributes; high transformational attributes; and no strong leadership attributes identified.

Transformational leaders (N = 39) obtained the highest perceived outcome scores and the highest recruiting production averages (125.35). Transactional leaders, augmented with transformational leadership attributes (N = 69), scored the second highest in perceived outcomes scores, but scored the lowest in recruiting production averages (115.8). Leaders that displayed no strong leadership attributes of any style (N = 34) had the highest

laissez-faire leadership scores with the lowest transformational and transactional leadership styles and perceived outcome scores. This group also had the second lowest recruiting production score (115.97). Only 3% of the leaders were classified as transactional leaders (4 of 146). These transactional leaders had the lowest perceived outcomes scores but had the second highest production averages (119.23). Comparison data is presented in Appendix M.

Leadership styles of RINC leaders (N = 101) were further categorized by leadership attributes and leadership attributes that scored at or above 3.5. Comparison between leadership attributes and similar very high scoring attributes was conducted. The very high transformational and transactional category (N=22) had the highest transformational and transactional leadership style scores with very high perceived outcome scores, yet this category had the second lowest recruiting production average. The combined very high transformational and very high transformational and transactional category (N = 30) also had very high transformational and transactional leadership style scores with correspondingly high perceived outcome scores. This category had the second highest recruiting production average, however recruiter production remained 10% below the recruiter production average from the transformational only leadership style (N = 34) category. The very high transformational category (N = 5) had the highest perceived outcome scores but the lowest recruiting production averages. The transformational leadership style category (N = 34) had significantly lower transformational leadership and perceived outcome scores than the very high categories, but had the highest recruiting production average. The transformational and transactional leadership style category (N = 47) had the lowest

leadership and perceived outcomes scores, but recruiting production was the medium.

Comparison of RINC leadership styles to production is depicted in Appendix N.

Research Question 1

Correlation tests were conducted to answer the research question what, if any, relationship exists between leadership styles and recruiter production. Pearson Product Moment Correlation data is displayed in Table 2. Analysis of aggregated leadership styles of RINCs indicates that transformational leadership style were significant with p < 0.01 and had a relatively strong positive relationship with recruiter production (r = 0.840). Transactional leadership styles had a relatively weak but positive relationship with recruiter production (r = 0.211). In contrast, the non-leadership style had a strong negative relationship with recruiter production (r = 0.924).

Table 2

Pearson Product Moment Correlation

Variable	TF	TA	LF	EE	EFF	SAT	Production
Correlation							
TF	1.000						
TA	0.708**	1.000					
LF	-0.984**	-0.569*	1.000				
EE	0.999**	0.671**	-0.992**	1.000			
EFF	0.998**	0.656**	-0.994	0.999	1.000		
SAT	0.944**	0.626**	-0.997	0.998	0.999	1.000	
Production	0.840**	0.211	9240	0.867	0.876	0.894	1.000

Note. ** Correlation is significant at the p < 0.01 (2-tailed)

* Correlation is significant at the p < 0.05 (2-tailed).

Partial correlation analysis of RINC leadership style to recruiter production and performance outcomes are displayed in Table 3. Similar to the Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient, transformational leadership style displayed a strong positive relationship with all performance outcomes, but displayed relatively weak positive relationship to production (r = 0.127) when the effects of transactional and laissez-faire leadership styles were controlled. Transactional leadership style returned relatively weak negative relationship with production (r = -0.157) and perceived outcomes of efficiency and satisfaction when the effects of transformational and laissez-faire leadership styles were controlled. With the exception of efficiency (r = -0.262), laissez-faire leadership style showed almost zero relationship to recruiter production or performance outcomes (r = 0.028).

Table 3

Partial Correlations

Variable Correlation	Prod	EE	EFF	SAT
TF (controlling TA & LF attributes)	0.127	0.736	0.789	0.809
TA (controlling TF & LF attributes)	-0.157	0.068	-0.048	-0.207
LF (controlling TF & TA attributes)	0.028	-0.054	-0.262	0.012

The results of these correlation tests indicate that relationships exist between leadership styles and recruiter production. Consequently, the null hypotheses that no correlation exists between leadership styles and recruiter production are rejected in favor of the alternative hypotheses. The results support the alternative hypotheses that

relationships exist, both positive and negative, between the differing leadership styles and recruiter production.

Evaluation of Findings

The primary goal of the data collection in this study was to determine what relationship exists between leadership style and effective recruiting. Leadership styles displayed by the first, second, and third-level supervisors, within the six participating Navy Recruiting Districts (NRD) were explored to determine what relationship exists between leadership style and recruiter production. The results of this study demonstrated that 47% (69 of the 146) of the leaders surveyed demonstrated both strong transformational and transactional leadership styles. Approximately one-third of those transformational and transactional leaders (22 of the 69) scored very high in both transformational and transactional leadership attributes. An additional 27% (39 of the 146) of the leaders surveyed demonstrated strong transformational leadership attributes with five of these leaders scoring very high on transformational leadership attributes. Only 3% (4 out of 146) of Navy recruiter leadership identified with the transactional leadership style. While no Laissez-faire only leaders were identified, 23% (34 of the 146) of the leaders surveyed did not identify strongly with any leadership styles.

When comparing Navy Recruiting leadership to the Normative sample (n=27,285) obtained from Bass and Avolio (2004), the Navy Recruiting sample ranks near the Mean of the Normative sample (Appendix I). The major difference is in Appendix K, where the six Commanding Officers rank in top 75% for subordinates extra effort, 70% for subordinates effectiveness and 60% for subordinates job satisfaction. RINC's scored in the top 60% for extra effort, 40% for efficiency, and 55% in job satisfaction. Zone

Supervisors scored the lowest in terms of subordinate performance as compared to the Meta analysis with 55% ranking in extra effort, 35% ranking in efficiency, and only a 25% ranking in job satisfaction.

The recruiting production performance and perceived outcomes ranking by leadership traits was significantly higher for the transformational only leaders than other leadership styles, including combination of leadership styles (Appendix M).

Transformational leaders scored in the top 70% of the Normative Sample (Bass & Avolio, 2004) for all three-performance outcomes. Leaders with both strong transformational and transactional leadership attributes scored in the top 65% for both extra effort and efficiency, and 55% for job satisfaction. Transactional leaders scored in the top 60% for subordinate extra effort but only scored 35% in efficiency and 25% in job satisfaction. Leaders without strong leadership traits ranked in the bottom 15% for extra effort and efficiency, and 11% for job satisfaction.

The results of this study support the Full-Spectrum Leadership model. The data in Appendix M and N supports that transformational leaders' recruiting production numbers were above leaders who demonstrate other leadership styles, including leaders that scored high in both transformational and transactional leadership styles. One deviation was those Navy Recruiting Leaders who displayed very high transformational leadership attributes, but have the lowest recruiting production of all categories. However, with only 5% of all RINCs in this Navy recruiting sample classified as very high transformational leaders, the low recruiting production may be an anomaly that warrants further investigation.

The results of this study did not support previous research that the best of leadership is both transformational and transactional (Bass, 1985, 1986, 1996;

Kuruppuarachchi, 2001; Lles, 2001; Ohman, 2000; O'shea, 2002). The findings in Appendix M and N indicated that recruiting leaders high in both transformational and transactional leadership attributes produced at the same level as those recruiting leaders without any strong leadership attributes. Both of these categories were significantly lower in recruiting production then either the leaders with dominant transformational leadership style or transactional leadership style.

The Navy Recruiting sample on RINC leaders indicate that leaders with combined very high in transformational and transactional leadership attributes do have higher subordinate perceived outcomes of extra effort, effectiveness and job satisfaction than other leaders (Appendix N). These results were consistent with Bass and Avolio (2004) findings that augmenting transactional leadership with transformational leadership increased the subordinate perceived outcomes of extra effort, effectiveness, and job satisfaction. The recruiting production of these combined very high transformational and transactional leaders is the same as the moderate combined transformational and transactional leaders and 10 % below the recruiting production of the moderate transformational only leaders. As the data in Appendix N posited, the leaders with very high transformational leadership attributes, without regard to other leadership attributes observed, display high-perceived outcome results. The low recruiting production performance, coupled with the correlation analysis (Tables 2 and 3), suggested it was singularly the transformational leader that drove recruiting production vice a transactional leader augmented with transformational leadership attributes.

Summary

According to Commander, Navy Recruiting Command (2009), Navy Recruiting employs a transactional reward system. Navy Recruiting leaders would be expected to display some transformational behaviors but most actions would be more transactional. The findings of this study generally support that the majority of Navy Recruiting leaders exhibit both transformational and transactional leadership styles.

The findings also supported previous research that leaders exhibiting strong transformational attributes have subordinates with strong perceived outcomes of extra effort, effectiveness, and satisfaction. This study supported the Full-Spectrum Leadership model that the recruiting production was greatest with transformational leaders. The findings did not support an augmentation effect when transactional leaders also use transformational leadership attributes.

Chapter 5: Implications, Recommendations, and Conclusions

Recruiting has become more complicated over the years, and attracting top talent from a shrinking pool of available talent is a global challenge for all sectors, private, public and non-profit (Bielski, 2007; Lieb, 2003; Pollitt, 2004). Sharkey (2005) stated that, for businesses to compete successfully in the 21st century, they need to become efficient, which is in turn reliant on effective leadership. Leadership within an organization's recruiting component is critical, as recruitment is the number one human resources challenge (Leonard, 1999). The purpose of this quantitative method and correlational design study was not to explore causation, but to examine the relationship that leadership styles has on recruiting production.

The scope of this study was limited to six geographically-separated Navy Recruiting Districts. The personnel from these six recruiting districts participated using Bass and Avolio's (2004) Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire, version 5X, as the survey instrument used to examine leadership styles employed by those Navy Recruiting leaders. The study focused on the immediate leader-subordinate relationship and did not examine the additive impact of the entire leadership hierarchy.

The remainder of this chapter will be devoted to discussing the implications drawn from this study, including comparisons between the current study and the results from previous studies and literature in Chapter 2. Specific recommendations to the U.S. Navy Recruiting Command will be presented. This chapter will conclude with recommendations for future research and summary.

Implications

Recruiting is one of the Navy's top priorities; recruiting is vital to the success of the Navy with approximately 11% of the active duty Fleet replaced each year with new recruits (United States Navy, 2007; Commander Navy Recruiting Command [CNRC], 2006). To address this problem, a quantitative method and correlational design study was conducted that examined the association between leadership style and recruiting production within the U.S. Navy Recruiting Command.

The research question which guided this quantitative method and correlational design research project was what relationship did transformational (TF), transactional (TA), and laissez-faire (LF) leadership styles within the U.S. Navy Recruiting Command have on recruiter production. Due to the sensitive nature of subordinates rating superiors within the military (Black, 2006), the methodology employed ensured that respondents remained anonymous. This research question examined *What, if any, relationship exists between leadership styles and recruiter production?*

Correlation tests (Table 2) answered the research question what, if any, relationship exists between leadership styles and recruiter production. Results of this study indicated that transformational leadership style had a relatively strong positive relationship with recruiter production (r = 0.840; p < 0.01). Transactional leadership styles had a relatively weak but positive relationship with recruiter production (r = 0.211). Although no laissez-faire leadership styles were evident within Navy Recruiting, several leaders displayed an absence of a strong tendency towards any one leadership style. This non-leadership style, labeled as LF, had a strong negative relationship with recruiter production (r = 0.924).

Additional Findings

Leadership traits of the Navy Recruiting District (NRD) leaders were compared to the data found in Bass and Avolio's (2004) normative sample. The results of this study found that the cumulative Navy Recruiting District (NRD) leadership scored higher on average in transformational leadership than the average attained from Bass and Avolio's (2004) normative sample (2.98 versus 2.85) and significantly higher on transactional leadership (2.84 versus 2.27). This study also found zero laissez-faire leaders among the 144 Navy Recruiting leaders that were rated. Additionally, the study found that the NRD leadership achieved slightly higher average perceived outcomes then the 2004 normative sample in terms of extra effort (EE), 2.94 versus 2.74, effectiveness (EFF), 3.09 versus 3.07), but slightly lower perceived outcome in job satisfaction (SAT), 2.94 versus 3.08.

Leadership traits for each leadership tier of participating Navy Recruiting

Districts were compared to the Bass and Avolio's (2004) normative study (Appendix I).

These results found that the third-tier level Commanding Officers average score was extremely high on transformational traits (3.44) and high on transactional traits (2.99) and had corresponding high averages on extra effort, efficiency, and job satisfaction, 3.45, 3.56, and 3.55 respectively. These scores were well above the 2004 normative average (Bass & Avolio, 2004) and the scores of both the first and second-tier Navy recruiting leadership (Appendix I). This third-tier leadership also had the highest recruiting production with an average of 125.68% of assigned goal.

The Navy recruiting first-tier leadership scored higher on both transformational (3.04) and transactional (2.82) leadership attributes then did their second-tier superiors. The Navy recruiting second-tier leaders averaged transformational score was 2.86 and

transaction average was 2.73. Correspondingly, the Navy recruiting first-tier leaders had higher perceived outcomes then did their second-tier superiors with extra effort average scores of 3.17 versus 2.98, efficiency average scores of 3.25 versus 3.05, and job satisfaction average scores of 3.25 versus 2.98. The Navy recruiting first-tier leaders had higher recruiting production on average than the second-tier leaders, 117.88% versus 115.96% of assigned goals. These results support the assertion that effective leaders use elements of both transformational and transactional leadership styles in varying degrees and situations (Bass, 1985, 1986; 1999; Kuruppuarachchi, 2001; Lles, 2001; Ohman, 2000; O'shea, 2002).

Leadership style of the first-tier recruiting leaders were categorized as high combined transformational and transactional attributes; high transformational attributes; high transactional attributes; and no strong leadership attributes identified. Navy recruiting leaders that scored high only in transformational attributes, average of 3.23, had average perceived outcome scores of extra effort 3.34, efficiency 3.49, and job satisfaction 3.49. Navy recruiting leaders that scored high in both transformational attributes (3.26) and transactional attributes (3.16) had similar average perceived outcome scores of extra effort 3.28, efficiency 3.38, and job satisfaction 3.27.

The Navy recruiting leaders that scored high only in transformational attributes had the highest recruiting production (Appendix M). The Navy recruiting leaders that showed strong transformational and transactional attributes had the lowest recruiting production averages. Interestingly, the 34 of the 146 Navy recruiting leaders who did not identify strongly with any one leadership style and had the lowest Navy recruiting subordinate perceived outcomes of extra effort, efficiency, and job satisfaction, had

almost identical production results of those Navy recruiting leaders with transactional leadership styles augmented by transformational leadership attributes.

These results indicate that, while the augmentation effect that transformational leadership has on transactional leaders as asserted by Bass and others (Bass, 1985, 1986; Kuruppuarachchi, 2001; Lles, 2001; Ohman, 2000; O'shea, 2002) does indeed support subordinates perceived outcomes, these perceived outcome scores may not be accurate predictors of recruiting performance. Indeed, Bass and Avolio (2004) hypothesized that someone's loyalty to the organization might generate adequate performance similar to the effort achieved by subordinates of transactional leaders. Additionally, Bass and Avolio (2004) cited several large studies that found transactional leadership often leads to lower performance.

Detailed examination of leadership styles within Navy recruiting first-tier leadership confirms the previous results and disputes the transformational augmentation effect. Separating Navy recruiting leaders with very high transformational and transactional attributes from those Navy recruiting leaders with strong transformational and transactional attributes did result in dramatic increase in perceived outcomes (Appendix N) from 62 percentile up to 78 percentile as compared to the normative sample (Bass & Avolio, 2004). These perceived outcome scores are now higher than the rated scores of the Navy recruiting transformational leaders. Recruiting production of those Navy recruiting leaders with strong transformational and transactional attributes remains virtually unchanged at 115% of assigned goal and still over 11 percentage points lower than the recruiting production from those Navy recruiting transformational leaders.

The lower recruiting production, coupled with the correlation analysis (Table 2), suggest that it is singularly the transformational leader that drives recruiting production vice the augment effect previously asserted. This finding supports Bass' (1999) assertion that in stressful and unpredictable situations, like Navy recruiting is, transformational leadership helps groups to maintain high performance standards.

One limitation that potentially skews these results is respondent bias. Due to the voluntary nature of this study, the returned and usable surveys allowed the researcher to evaluate the leadership styles of approximately one-half (146 of the 307 leaders) of the Navy Recruiting Districts production leadership in these six districts. Additionally, according to the production reports received, 62 of those leaders missed recruiting production goal. Only 24 leaders that missed production goal were able to be examined and reported.

Recommendations

The following recommendations are offered to the U.S. Navy Recruiting Command. The first recommendation is that leaders need a clear understanding of their leadership attributes (Bass & Avolio, 2004). Surveying all Navy Recruiting leaders and subordinates with an instrument similar to the MLQ-5X will provide this baseline. The baseline will identify strengths and weaknesses of specific transformational leadership attributes. Manager training and development programs, which include coaching or training in transformational leadership skills, will address identified weaknesses. Several studies show improved unit perceived outcomes and production within six months of completing transformational leadership training (Bass, 1997a; Bass & Avolio, 2004; Bass et al., 2003).

The U.S. Navy Recruiting Command should prioritize identifying leadership attributes by first surveying all second-tier leaders throughout their claimancy. Second-tier leaders had the lowest leadership scores, perceived outcomes scores, and production results. Additionally, fully one-third of the second-tier leaders surveyed (9 of 27) demonstrated no strong leadership style.

The second recommendation is that the Navy Recruiting human resource department should screen and identify leaders for transformational leadership skills prior to placement into recruiting positions of authority. Bielski (2007) stated that human resource officers should build a template that details the position requirements and ask the applicant both behavior-related and achievement-oriented questions to predict actual work performance. Early identification of transformational leadership deficiencies could be corrected through appropriate training programs prior to the leader being assigned to a leadership position with potential negative impact to recruiter production.

Three future research areas are recommended. The first recommendation for future research is to replicate this study with a longitudinal study. The survey results in this study measured leadership attributes as perceived from a single point in time.

Averaging perceptions of leadership attributes over time would provide a clearer picture or the leader's actual leadership style in order to fully examine the relationship between leadership style and recruiting production. Additionally, an interview procedure, which would query all leaders and subordinates that failed to achieve production goals, would reduce respondent bias of collecting data predominately from successful recruiters.

The second recommendation for future research is to conduct a quasiexperimental design research that controls the composition of the leadership hierarchy. Align leaders with similar strengths to examine the additive impact of the entire leadership hierarchal has on production. Additionally, explore causation of leadership style to recruiting production through introduction of specific leadership attribute training to these quasi-experimental groups.

The third recommendation for future research is to examine the relationship of leadership attributes to recruiter production of all four branches of the military. Including the recruiting components of the Army, Navy, Marine Corps, and Air Force recruiters within a single geographic area would increase the sample size, while maintaining regional demographics of education, propensity to serve, etc. Comparison of leadership attributes to recruiter production across the four recruiting branches of the military could potentially identify extraneous variables previously unaccounted for within the recruiting branch of a single service.

Conclusions

The findings of this study concurred with previous findings that transformational leaders are more effective than transactional leaders. The data reported here disputes previous reports that transformational leadership had an augmentation effect on transactional leadership. This study found that leaders with both strong transformational and transactional leadership attributes achieved average production. Additionally, perceived outcomes of extra effort, effectiveness, and job satisfaction were not accurate predictors of recruiting performance. This research adds to the growing body of evidence of the importance of transformational leadership. This research may be extrapolated to other large recruiting organizations: military, governmental, academia, and corporate.

This research may also apply to leaders across the U.S. military given the current dynamic and stressful wartime environment.

References

- Abraham, R. (1999). Emotional intelligence in organizations: A conceptualization. Genetic, Social, and General Psychology Monographs, 125(2), 209-224.
- Abshire, D.M. (2001). A call for transformational leadership: The United States and Japan. *Vital Speeches of the Day, 67*(14), 432-435. Retrieved September 6, 2006, from ABI/INFORM Global database. (Document ID: 72970470).
- Aczel, A.D. & Sounderpandian, J. (2006). *Complete business statistics* (6th ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Adams, J.S. (1963). Toward an understanding of inequity. *Journal of abnormal and Social Psychology* 67, 422-436.
- Adams, J.S. (1965). Inequity in social exchange. In L. Berkowitz (Ed.), *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology* (Vol. 2, pp. 1175-1199). New York: Academic Press.
- Adidam, P.T. (2006). Causes and consequences of high turnover by sales professionals. Journal of American Academy of Business, Cambridge, 10(1), 137-141.
- Amaram, D.I. (2005). Issues in recruitment and retention for the IT workforce. *Journal of American Academy of Business, Cambridge*, 6(2), 49-54.
- Antonakis, J. (2001). The validity of the transformational, transactional and laissez-faire leadership models as measured by the multifactor leadership questionnaire. (Doctorial dissertation, Walden University, 2001). Retrieved March 26, 2007 from Proquest database (Document ID: 728443741).
- Aronson, E. (2001). Integrating leadership styles and ethical perspectives. *Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences*, 18(4), 244-256.
- Avolio, B.J. (2007). Promoting more integrative strategies for leadership theory-building. *American Psychologist*, 62(1), 25-33.
- Barling, J., Slater, F., & Kelloway, E.K. (2000). Transformational leadership and emotional intelligence: An exploratory study. *Leadership & Organizational Development Journal*, 21(3), 157-161.
- Bass, B.M. (1981). Stogdill's handbook of leadership. New York: Macmillan.
- Bass, B.M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. New York, NY: Academic Press,
- Bass, B.M. (1986). *Implications of a new leadership paradigm*. Binghamton: School of Management, State University of New York.

- Bass, B.M. (1988). Evolving perspectives on charismatic leadership. In J. Conger & R. Kanungo (Eds.) *Charismatic leadership* (pp. 40-77) San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Bass, B.M. (1990a). Bass and Stogdill's handbook of leadership: Theory, research, and management applications (3rd ed.). New York: The Free Press.
- Bass, B.M. (1990b). From transactional to transformational leadership: Learning to share the vision. *Organizational Dynamics*, 18(3), 19-36.
- Bass, B.M. (1996). The ethics of transformational leadership. In *Kellog Leadership Studies Project Transformational Leadership Working Papers: October 1997*. College Park: University of Maryland Academy of Leadership Press. Retrieved April 8, 2005, from http://www.academy.umd.edu/publications/klspdocs/bbass_p1.htm
- Bass, B.M. (1997a). Transformational Leadership: Industry, Military, and Educational Impact. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.
- Bass, B.M. (1997b). Personal selling and transactional/transformational leadership. *The Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 17(3), 19-28.
- Bass, B.M. (1999). Two decades of research and development in transformational leadership. European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 8(1), 9-33.
- Bass, B.M., & Avolio, B.J. (2000). *MLQ multifactor leadership questionnaire* (2nd ed.). Redwood City, CA: Ming Garden.
- Bass, B.M., & Avolio, B.J. (2004). *MLQ multifactor leadership questionnaire* (3rd ed.). Redwood City, CA: Ming Garden.
- Bass, B. M., Avolio, B. J., Jung, D. I., & Berson, Y. (2003). Predicting unit performance by assessing transformational and transactional leadership. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(2), 207-218.
- Bass, B.M. & Riggo, R.E. (2006). *Transformational Leadership* (2nd ed.). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.
- Bass, B.M. & Steidlmeier, P. (1999). Ethics, character, and authentic transformational leadership behavior. *Leadership Quarterly*, 10(2), 181-217.
- Bielski, L. (2007). Getting to "yes" with the right candidates. *ABA Banking Journal*, 99(3), 30-32, 34, 51.
- Black, S.L. (2006). Assessing transactional and transformational characteristics of air force squadron commanders: A case study. (Doctoral dissertation, Capella University, 2006). Retrieved March 26, 2007, from Proquest database. (Document ID: 1147183241).

- Bryant, S.E. (2003). The role of transformational and transactional leadership in creating, sharing and exploiting organizational knowledge. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 9(4), 32-44.
- Burke, W.W. (1979). Leaders and their development. *Group and Organization Studies*, 4(3), 273-280.
- Burns, J.M. (1978). Leadership. New York: Harper.
- Cascio, W.F. (1995). Whither industrial and organizational psychology in a changing world of work? *American Psychologist*, 50(11), 928-939.
- Chief of Naval Education and Training. (2006). *Personnel qualification standard program* (NAVEDTRA 43100-6). Retrieved September 29, 2006 from https://pqs.cnet.navy.mil/books/43100-6.pdf
- Coe, R. (2002). September 12-14). It's the effect size, stupid! What effect size is and why it is important. Paper presented at the 2002 British Educational Research Association annual conference. Retrieved December 15, 2007 from http://davidmlane.com/hyperstat/effect_size.html
- Commander, Navy Recruiting Command. (2006). FY06 National enlisted production goal. (Available from Commander, Navy Recruiting Command, 5722 Integrity Drive, Bldg 784, Millington, TN 38054).
- Commander, Navy Recruiting Command. (2007). FY07 Military personnel status report for 31 December 2006. (Available from Commander, Navy Recruiting Command, 5722 Integrity Drive, Bldg 784, Millington, TN 38054).
- Commander, Navy Recruiting Command. (2009). NAVCRUITCOMINST1430.7B

 Recruiting command advancement program. (Available from Commander, Navy Recruiting Command, 5722 Integrity Drive, Bldg 784, Millington, TN 38054).
- Daft, R.L. (1999). Leadership Theory and Practice. Orlando, FL: The Dryden Press.
- Deloitte & Touche. (2001). *Human resources practices survey 2000*. Los Angeles, CA: Human Capital Advisory Services.
- Derzsy, M. (2003). The relationship between leadership styles of sales managers and employee job satisfaction: An empirical examination. (Doctorial dissertation, Capella University, 2003). Retrieved March 26, 2007, from Proquest database. (Document ID: 765206251).
- Durante, G.G. (2005). A quantitative analysis of the leadership behavior styles of leaders at a naval warfare systems center. (Doctorial dissertation, Northcentral University, 2005). Retrieved November 20th, 2006, from Proquest database. (Document ID: 1014314631).

- Fairholm, G.W. (1998). Perspectives on leadership: From the science of management to its spiritual heart. Westport, CT, USA: Greenwood Publishing Group, Inc.
- Fiedler, F.E. (1967). A theory of leadership effectiveness. New York: Mcgraw-Hill.
- Fiedler, F.E. (1996). Research on leadership selection and training: One view of the future. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 41(2), 241-250.
- Foote, T.H. (1988). The managerial grid for teachers: Evidence, practical applications, and directions for future research. (Report No. 101). Teachers College, Columbia University, NY. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED297442)
- Garcia, A.R., Sr. (2004). A study of the relationship among the constructs of transformational and transactional leadership and conflict management style. (Doctorial dissertation, Our Lady of the Lake University, 2004). Retrieved March 26, 2007 from Proquest database. (Document ID: 790248481).
- Gehring, D.R. (2007). Applying traits theory of leadership to project management. *Project Management Journal*, 38(1), 44-54.
- Gibson, J.L.. Ivancevich, J.M., & Donnelly, J.H. Jr., (2000). *Organizations: Behavior, structure, processes* (10th ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Gingras, C. (2006). Effects of manager's leadership styles and decision-making styles on appraisal of employee's critical thinking performance. (Doctorial dissertation, Touro University International, 2006). Retrieved March 26, 2007 from Proquest database. (Document ID: 1225132271).
- Golding, A.A. (2003). An examination of Bass' full-range leadership model in Jamaican organizations. (Doctorial dissertation, Nova Southeastern University, 2003). Retrieved January 3, 2007 from Proquest database. (Document ID: 3096348).
- Goleman, D. (1995). Emotional intelligence. New York: Bantam Books.
- Gordon, J. & Lowe, B. (2002). Employee retention: Approaches for achieving performance objectives. *Journal of American Academy of Business, Cambridge*, 1(2), 201-205.
- Halpin, A.W. (1957). Manual for the Leader Behavior Description Questionnaire. Retrieved October 6, 2008 from http://fisher.osu.edu/suppliments/10/2862/1957%20LBDQ%20manual.pdf
- High, R. (2000, Summer). Important factors in designing statistical power analysis studies. *Computing News*. Retrieved December 5, 2007 from http://cc.uoregon.edu/cnews/summer2000/statpower.html
- Hood, J.N. (2003). The relationship of leadership style and CEO values to ethical practices in organizations. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 43(4), 263-273.

- Horner, M. (1997). Leadership theory: Past, present and future. *Team Performance Management*, 3(4), 270.
- House, R.J. (1971). A path-goal theory of leader effectiveness. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 16, 321-339.
- Humphreys, J.H., & Einstein, W.O. (2003). Nothing new under the sun: Transformational leadership from a historical perspective. *Management Decision*, 41(1/2), 85-95.
- Judge, T.A. & Bono, J.E. (2000). Five factor model of personality and transformational leadership. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85(5), 751-765.
- Judge, T.A. & Piccolo, R.F. (2004). Transformational and transactional leadership: A meta-analytic test of their relative validity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(5), 755-768.
- Kest, R.T. ((2006). Principles of leadership: Leadership management. *Futurics*, 30(1/2), 52-71.
- Kuruppuarachchi, P.R. (2001). How IT project managers are leading change. Management Services, 45(12), 8-9.
- Larson, L.L., Hunt, J.G., & Osborn, R.N. (1976). The great Hi-Hi leader behavior myth: A lesson from Occam's razor. *Academy of Management Journal*, 19(4), 628-641.
- Law, K.S., Wong, C.S., & Song, L.J. (2004). The construct and criterion validity of emotional intelligence and its potential utility for management studies. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(3), 483-496.
- Leonard, B. (1999). HR squeezed by tight labor market. HR Magazine, 44(6), 37.
- Lidon, R.C., Graen, G. (1980). Generalizability of the vertical dyad linkage model of leadership. *Academy of Management Journal*, 23(2), 451-465.
- Lieb, P.S. (2003). The effect of September 11th on job attitude preference and recruitment. *Journal of Business and Psychology, 18*(2), 175-190.
- Lles, P. (2001). Leadership and leadership development: Time for a new direction? *The British Journal of Administrative Management*, 27, 22-23
- Lyon, J.S. (2003). Does distant leadership make a difference? Exploring the effects of leadership and substitutes for leadership on virtual worker performance and satisfaction. (Master's thesis, University of Maryland, 2003). Retrieved March 26, 2007 from Proquest database. (Document ID: 766667651).
- MacKenzie, S.B., Podsakoff, P.M., & Rich, G.A. (2001). Transformational and transactional leadership and salesperson performance. *Academy of Marketing Science Journal*, 29(2), 115-134.

- Masi, R.J. & Cooke, R.A. (2000). Effects on transformational leadership on subordinate motivation, empowering norms, and organizational productivity. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis: Special Issue: Experiment in Developing Scholars*, 8(1), 16-46. Retrieved March 31, 2005, from ABI/INFORM Global database. (Document ID: 59716646).
- Maslanka, A.M. (2004). *Evolution of leadership theories*. (Master's thesis, Grand Valley State University, 2004). Retrieved March 26, 2007 from Proquest database. (Document ID: 885672251).
- Morris, C.R. (2003). Beyond transactional. America, 188(16), 22-24.
- Mullen, M.G. (2007). Statement of Admiral Michael G. Mullen, Chief of Naval Operations, before the House Armed Senate Committee, 01 March 2007. Retrieved June 5, 2007 from http://www.navy.mil/navydata/cno/mullen/testimony/07427C1-2_Written_Statement_HASC_1_Mar_CNO_final.pdf
- Nguyen, H.C. (2002). An investigation of the relationship among the constructs of transformational and transactional leadership and general cognitive ability. (Doctoral dissertation, Our Lady of the Lake University, 2002). Retrieved March 26, 2007 from Proquest database. (Document ID: 727403571).
- Northcentral University. (2007). Dissertation Handbook for Learners, Version: 1-1-07. Retrieved April 9, 2008 from http://www.ncu.edu
- Northouse, P.G. (2000). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Nwuneli, N.O. (2006). A package deal: Transformational and transactional behaviors as predictors of team climate and empowerment. (Doctoral dissertation, Columbia University, 2006). Retrieved March 26, 2007 from Proquest database. (Document ID: 1083547501).
- Ohman, K.A. (2000). Critical care managers change views, change lives. *Nursing Management*, 31(9), 32B-32E.
- OPNAV. (2001). Chief of Naval Operations Instruction 5354.1E Navy Equal Opportunity (EO) Policy. Retrieved October 13, 2006 from http://doni.daps.dla.mil/directives/05000%20General%20Management%20Securit y%20and%20Sarety%Services/05-300%20Manpower%20Personnel% 20Support/5354.1E.pdf
- OPNAV. (2005). Chief of Naval Operations Instruction 3120.32C Standard organization and Regulations of the U.S. Navy. Retrieved April 2, 2008 from http://doni.daps.dla.mil/Directives/03000%20Naval%20Operations%20and%20R eadiness/03-100%20Naval%20Operations%20Support/3120.32C.pdf

- O'Shea, P.G. (2002). A different way of looking: Application of a pattern approach to understanding transformational and transactional leadership. (Doctoral dissertation, Virginia Tech, (2002). Obtained from Virginia Tech Electronic Thesis and Dissertation (VTETD) Collection. Retrieved April 8, 2005, from http://scholar.lib.vt.edu/these/available/etd-04192002-112831/
- Ozaralli, N. (2003). Effects of transformational leadership on empowerment and team effectiveness. *Leadership & Organizational Development Journal*, 24(5/6), 335-344.
- Paul, J., Costley, D.L., Howell, J.P. & Dorfman, P.W. (2002). The mutability of charisma in leadership research. *Management Decision*, 40(1/2), 192-200.
- Perkel, L.K. (2000). Nurse executives' perceptions of their personal and organizational value congruence and leadership behaviors: Transformational, transactional and laissez-faire. (Doctoral dissertation, Barry University, 2000). Retrieved March 26, 2005, from Proquest database. (Document ID: 727953001).
- Podsakoff, P.M., Mackenzie, S.B., Ahearnie, M., & Bommer, W.H. (1995). Searching for a needle in a haystack: Trying to identify the illusive moderators of leadership behavior. *Journal of Management*, 21(3), 422-470.
- Pollitt, D. (2004). Recruiting for success: Challenges and solutions. *Human Resource Management International Digest, 12*(7), 24-27.
- Popper, M., & Zakkai, E. (1994). Transactional, charismatic and transformational leadership. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 15(6), 3-7.
- Pounder, J.S. (2003). Employing transformational leadership to enhance the quality of management development instruction. *The Journal of Management Development,* 22(1/2), 6-13.
- Riley, D.N. (2006). The effects of sales management leadership styles on salesperson organizational commitment and salesperson turnover intentions. (Doctoral dissertation, Nova Southeastern University, 2006), Retrieved March 26, 2007 from Proquest database. (Document ID: 1221692751).
- Roach, R. (2006). Corporate recruiting in the 21st century. *Diverse Issues in Higher Education*, 23(18), 46-49.
- Safferstone, M.J. (2005). Organizational leadership: Classic works and contemporary perspectives. *CHOICE: Current Reviews for Academic Libraries*, 42(6), 959-975.
- Salam, S., Cox, J.F., & Sims, H.P. Jr. (1997). In the eye of the beholder: How leadership relates to 360-degree performance ratings. *Group and Organizational Studies*, 22(2), 185-210.

- San Diego State University. (2008). *Research Tutorial*. Retrieved March 17, 2008 from http://gra.sdsu.edu/cphs/tutorial/tutorial map.htm
- Schutte, N.S., Malouff, J.M., Hall, L.E., Haggerty, D.J., Cooper, J.T., Golden, C.J., & Dornheim, L. (1998). Development and validation of a measure of emotional intelligence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 25(2), 167-177.
- Sharkey, L.D. (2005). Organization integration case study: A practical approach to drive faster results. *Organization Development Journal*, 24(4), 44-53.
- Smith, A.D. & Rupp, W.T. (2004). Managerial challenges of e-recruiting: Extending the life cycle of new economy employees. *Online Information Review*, 28(1), 61-74.
- Spinelli, R.J. (2004). Transformational, transactional and laissez-faire leadership: An investigation of Bass's (1985) theory in the hospital administrative environment. (Doctoral dissertation, Nova Southeastern University, 2004). Retrieved March 26, 2007 from Proquest database. (Document ID: 790279531).
- Statistical computing seminars: Introduction to power analysis. (n.d.). Retrieved November 30, 2007 from University of California Los Angles, Academic Technology Services Web site: http://www.ats.ucla.edu/stat/seminars/Intro power/default.htm
- Tourish, D. & Pinnington, A. (2002). Transformational leadership, corporate cultism and the spirituality paradigm: An unholy trinity in the workplace? *Human Relations*, 55(2), 147-172.
- Trahant, B. & Yearout, S. (2006). Competing for talent in the Federal Government. *Public Manager*, 35(1), 57-61.
- Trochim, W.M.K. (2001). *The research methods knowledge base* (2nd ed.). Cincinnati, OH: Atomic Dog Publishing.
- Trombetta, E.M. (2006). *Transformational leadership in a transactional organization*. (Doctoral dissertation from Rowan University, 2006). Retrieved March 26, 2007 from Proquest database. (Document ID: 1147184651).
- United States Navy (2007). Navy reaching for new desired end strengths by 2008. *Navy News*, Article NNS070215-02. Retrieved February 20, 2007, from http://www,navy.mil/search/display.asp?story_id=27827
- Vroom, V.H. (1964). Work and Motivation. New York: Wiley.
- Vroom, V.H. & Yetton, P.W. (1973). *Leadership and decision-making*. Pittsburg: University of Pittsburg Press.
- Wagner, J.A., III & Hollenbeck, J.R. (2002). Organizational behavior: Securing competitive advantage (4th ed.). Orlando, FL: Harcourt, Inc.

- Weber, M. (1947). *The theory of social and economic organization*. New York: Free Press. (Original work published in 1924).
- Yukl, G. (2002). Leadership in Organizations (5th ed.). New York: Pearson Education.
- Yun, S., Cox, C., & Sims, P.H., Jr. (2006). A contingency model of leadership and follower self-leadership. *Journal of Management Psychology*, 21(4), 374-388.
- Zikmund, W.G. (2003). Business research methods (7th ed.). Mason, OH: South-Western.

Appendix A: MLQ-5X Sample Survey

For use by David Murray only. Received from Mind Garden, Inc. on May 7, 2008 MLQ Manual, Copyright 1995, 2000, 2004 by Bernard Bass and Bruce Avolio. All rights reserved. Published by Mind Garden, Inc., www.mindgarden.com

Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire

Leauer Form	
My Name:	Date:
Duty Station (NRS/Zone/HQ):	
Position (RINC/ZS/CR/EPO/CO)	
This questionnaire is to describe your leadership	
items on this answer sheet. If an item is irrelev	ant, or if you are unsure or do not know
the answer, leave the answer blank.	
Forty-five descriptive statements are listed on th	
each statement fits you. The word "others" may	mean your peers, clients, direct reports,
supervisors, and/or all of these individuals.	
Use the following rating scale:	
0 -Not at all	
1- Once in a while	
2 - Sometimes	
3 - Fairly often	
4- Frequently, if not always	
1. I provide others with assistance in exchange for the	eir efforts 0 1 2 3 4
2. I re-examine critical assumptions to question wheth	ner they are appropriate 0 1 2 3 4
3. I fail to interfere until problems become serious	0 1 2 3 4
4. I focus attention on irregularities, mistakes, excepti	
5. I avoid getting involved when important issues aris	
6. I talk about my most important values and beliefs	
7. I am absent when needed	
8. I seek differing perspectives when solving problem	s 0 1 2 3 4
9. I talk optimistically about the future	0 1 2 3 4
10. I instill pride in others for being associated with m	
11. I discuss in specific terms who is responsible for a	
12. I wait for things to go wrong before taking action	
13. I talk enthusiastically about what needs to be acc	
14. I specify the importance of having a strong sense	
15. I spend time teaching and coaching	
16. I make clear what one can expect to receive when	
17. I show that I am a firm believer in "If it ain't broke,	
18. I go beyond self-interest for the good of the group	
19. I treat others as individuals rather than just as a n	
20. I demonstrate that problems must become chroni	
21. I act in ways that build others' respect for me	
22. I concentrate my full attention on dealing with mis	
23. I consider the moral and ethical consequences of	decisions 0 1 2 3 4
24. I keep track of all mistakes	
25. I display a sense of power and confidence	
26. I articulate a compelling vision of the future	
27. I direct my attention toward failures to meet stand	ards 0 1 2 3 4

28. I avoid making decisions...... 0 1 2 3 4

29. I consider an individual as having different needs, abilities, and aspirations from others	O	1	2	3 4
30. I get others to look at problems from many different angles	0	1	2 3	3 4
31. I help others to develop their strengths	0	1	2 3	3 4
32. I suggest new ways of looking at how to complete assignments	0	1	2 3	3 4
33. I delay responding to urgent questions	(1 (2	34
34. I emphasize the importance of having a collective sense of mission	0	1	2 :	3 4
35. I express satisfaction when others meet expectations	O	1	2	3 4
36. I express confidence that goals will be achieved	(1 (2	34
37. I am effective in meeting others' job-related needs	C	1	2	3 4
38. I use methods of leadership that are satisfying				
39. I get others to do more than they expected to do				
40. I am effective in representing others to higher authority				
41. I work with others in a satisfactory way				
42. I heighten others' desire to succeed				
43. I am effective in meeting organizational requirements				
44. I increase others' willingness to try harder				
45. I lead a group that is effective				

Copyright © 1995 by Bernard Bass and Bruce Avolio. All rights reserved. It is your legal responsibility to compensate the copyright holder of this work for any reproduction in any medium. If you need to reproduce the MLQ, please contact Mind Garden www.mindgarden.com. Mind Garden is a registered trademark of Mind Garden, Inc.

For use by David Murray only. Received from Mind Garden, Inc. on May 7, 2008 MLQ Manual, Copyright 1995, 2000, 2004 by Bernard Bass and Bruce Avolio. All rights reserved. Published by Mind Garden, Inc., www.mindgarden.com

Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire Rater Form

Your Name	Duty Station	
Name of Leader:	Date:	
Organization ID #:	Leader ID #:	
This questionnaire is used to desas you perceive it. Answer all ite	scribe the leadership style of the above-mentione ms on this answer sheet. If an item is irrelevant answer, leave the answer blank.	
•	are listed on the following pages. Judge how free ou are describing. Use the following rating scale:	quently
The Person I Am Rating		
1. Provides me with assistance in ex	change for my efforts	0 1 2 3 4
2. Re-examines critical assumptions	to question whether they are appropriate	0 1 2 3 4
3. Fails to interfere until problems be	ecome serious	0 1 2 3 4
4. Focuses attention on irregularities	s, mistakes, exceptions, and deviations from standards	s01234
5. Avoids getting involved when imp	ortant issues arise	0 1 2 3 4
6. Talks about his/her most importar	nt values and beliefs	0 1 2 3 4
7. Is absent when needed		0 1 2 3 4
8. Seeks differing perspectives when	n solving problems	0 1 2 3 4
	re	
10. Instills pride in me for being asso	ociated with him/her	0 1 2 3 4
	is responsible for achieving performance targets	
12. Waits for things to go wrong before	ore taking action	0 1 2 3 4
13. Talks enthusiastically about wha	t needs to be accomplished	0 1 2 3 4
14. Specifies the importance of havi	ng a strong sense of purpose	0 1 2 3 4
	ning	
16. Makes clear what one can expec	ct to receive when performance goals are achieved	0 1 2 3 4
17. Shows that he/she is a firm belief	ever in "If it ain't broke, don't fix it."	0 1 2 3 4
	e good of the group	
19. Treats me as an individual rathe	r than just as a member of a group	0 1 2 3 4
20. Demonstrates that problems mu	st become chronic before taking action	0 1 2 3 4
21. Acts in ways that builds my resp	ect	0 1 2 34
22. Concentrates his/her full attention	n on dealing with mistakes, complaints, and failures	0 1 2 3 4
23. Considers the moral and ethical	consequences of decisions	0 1 2 34
	······································	
	confidence	
	f the future	
	res to meet standards	

28. Avoids making decisions	0 1 2 3 4
29. Considers me as having different needs, abilities, and aspirations from others	0 1 2 3 4
30. Gets me to look at problems from many different angles	0 1 2 3 4
31. Helps me to develop my strengths	0 1 2 3 4
32. Suggests new ways of looking at how to complete assignments	0 1 2 3 4
33. Delays responding to urgent questions	0 1 2 3 4
34. Emphasizes the importance of having a collective sense of mission	0 1 2 3 4
35. Expresses satisfaction when I meet expectations	0 1 2 3 4
36. Expresses confidence that goals will be achieved	0 1 2 3 4
37. Is effective in meeting my job-related needs	0 1 2 3 4
38. Uses methods of leadership that are satisfying	0 1 2 34
39. Gets me to do more than I expected to do	0 1 2 3 4
40. Is effective in representing me to higher authority	0 1 2 34
41. Works with me in a satisfactory way	0 1 2 3 4
42. Heightens my desire to succeed	0 1 2 3 4
43. Is effective in meeting organizational requirements	0 1 2 3 4
44. Increases my willingness to try harder	0 1 2 34
45. Leads a group that is effective	0 1 2 34

Copyright © 1995 by Bernard Bass and Bruce Avolio. All rights reserved. It is your legal responsibility to compensate the copyright holder of this work for any reproduction in anymedium. If you need to reproduce the MLQ, please contact Mind Garden www.mindgarden.com. Mind Garden is a registered trademark of Mind Garden,

Appendix B: 33-Item Emotional Intelligence Scale

- (1) I know when to speak about my personal problems to others
- (2) When I am faced with obstacles, I remember times I faced similar obstacles and overcame them
- (3) I expect that I will do well on most things I do
- (4) Other people find it easy to confide in me
- (5) I find it hard to understand the non-verbal message of other people*
- (6) Some of the major events of my life have led me to reevaluate what is important and not important
- (7) When my mood changes, I see new possibilities
- (8) Emotions are one of the things that make my life worth living
- (9) I am aware of my emotions as I experience them
- (10) I expect good things to happen
- (11) I like to share my emotions with others
- (12) When I experience a positive emotion, I know how to make it last
- (13) I arrange events others enjoy
- (14) I seek out activities that make me happy
- (15) I am aware of the non-verbal messages I send to others
- (16) I present myself in a way that makes a good impression on others
- (17) When I am in a positive mood, solving problems is easy for me
- (18) By looking at their facial expressions, I recognize the emotions people are experiencing
- (19) I know when my emotions change
- (20) When I am in a positive mood, I am able to come up with new ideas
- (21) I have control over my emotions
- (22) I easily recognize my emotions as I experience them
- (23) I motivate myself by imagining a good outcome to tasks I take on
- (24) I compliment others when they have done something well
- (25) I am aware of the non-verbal messages other people send
- (26) When another person tells me about an important event in his or her life, I almost feel as though I have experienced this event myself
- (27) When I feel a change in emotions, I tend to come up with new ideas
- (28) When I am faced with a challenge, I give up because I believe I will fail*
- (29) I know what other people are feeling just by looking at them
- (30) I help other people feel better when they are down
- (31) I use good moods to help myself keep trying in the face of obstacles
- (32) I can tell how people are feeling by listening to the tone of their voice
- (33) It is difficult for me to understand why people feel the way they do*

Note: The authors permit free use of the scale for research and clinical purposes.

*These items are reverse scored

Respondents use a 5-point Likert-scale where "1" represented "strongly disagree" and 5 represented "strongly agree".

Appendix C: Letter from N5, Commander, Navy Recruiting Command

DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY

NAVY RECRUITING COMMAND 5722 INTEGRITY DR. MILLINGTON, TENNESSEE 38054-5057

Ser N5B/09091 29 Jul 08

From: Director, Strategic Plans, Research and Analysis (N5)

Subj: RESEARCH STUDY ON RECRUITING LEADERSHIP STYLE AT NAVY RECRUITING DISTRICTS

Encl: (1) Dissertation Proposal by Captain David A. Murray of May 08

- 1. Commander, Navy Recruiting Command (CNRC) often claims the success or failure of a Navy Recruiting District (NRD) is due to its leadership, however there has been no research to validate this claim. To investigate this, CNRC N5 is partnering with Captain Dave Murray, Commanding Officer, NROTC Houston Consortium and former Commanding Officer, NRD Miami, to conduct research measuring the leadership styles within your individual NRD's and correlate those results with recruiter performance. I ask that you fully support Captain Murray in the conduct of this research project.
- 2. Captain Murray will be contacting you in the near future to implement his study plan. In brief, the study will survey six geographically separated NRD's (Richmond, Miami, Chicago, Houston, Portland and San Diego) with the Multi-factor Leadership Questionnaires (MLQ). Captain Murray will coordinat directly with each of the listed NRD Commanding Officer's and have the questionnaire administered during your annual fall meetings and award's banquet. The MLQ will identify individual leadership styles, from transformational down through Laissezfaire of the CO's, XO's, EPO's, CR's, Zone Supervisors and RinC's. It is our hope that comparing leadership style to recruiter production will provide an indication of which leadership style is most effective in the dynamic and challenging recruiting environment.

- 3. The results of this study could be extremely beneficial and evolve our leadership training programs within CNRC. If we understand what leadership style(s) is most effective within recruiting (i.e., transformational, transactional, or a combination of both), then we can place additional emphasis on our training and influence assignments of Recruiting managers based on leadership style. The additional training will provide a higher likelihood of success and improved productivity. Thank you in advance for supporting this research project.
- 4. Should you have additional questions not answered in this letter, please contact Commander Lepine at (901) 874-9461, email: brian.m.lepine@navy.mil, Mr. John Noble, N5 Director of Research (901) 874-9290, email: john.noble@navy.mil, or Captain Murray (713) 348-4825, email: david.a.murray@rice.edu.

B. M. LEPINE CDR USN By direction

Appendix D: Procedures Document

From: Captain Dave Murray, USN, Principal Investigator To Educational Services Officer, participating NRDs.

Via: Commanding Officer, participating NRDs.

Subj: Procedures for administering the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ-5X) surveys.

The following procedures should be used when administering the MLQ-5X and the 33-item Emotional Intelligence Survey (if required).

- 1. Distribute Informed Consent Document. While this study is expected to benefit Navy Recruiting, it is still requires voluntary participation. During this first step, stress the voluntary nature of this study.
- 2. Distribute the MLQ-5X rater survey to all recruiters.
- 3. Distribute both the MLQ-5X rater and leaders surveys to all RINC's, Zone Supervisors, Chief Recruiter; Enlisted Production Officer, and Commanding Officer.
- 4. Distribute, if notified in advance by the primary researcher, the 33-item Emotional Intelligence Survey to all.
- 5. State that this is an exploratory study and no one leadership style is preferred. Request honest answers to all questions.
- 6. Collect all surveys.
- 7. Seal, safe guard and mail all surveys to the primary researcher at:

CAPT Dave Murray Commanding Officer NROTC Houston Consortium 6100 Main Street, MS-556 Rice University Houston, Texas 77005-1892

Marked: Leadership Survey Enclosed

8. If you have any questions, please call CAPT Murray at 281-667-5215.

Thanks for your assistance!

D. A. Murray

Appendix E: Informed Consent Letter INFORMED CONSENT DOCUMENT

Exploring and Examining the Relationship between Leadership Styles and Recruiting Effectiveness within the U.S. Navy Consent Form.

Your are invited to be in this research study because of your experience as a U.S. Navy Recruiter. We ask that you read this document and ask any questions you may have before agreeing to be in the study. This study is being conducted by Captain D.A. Murray, USN as partial fullfillment of Northcentral University PhD requirements and in support of Navy Recruiting Command.

Background Information: The purpose of this study is to explore the relationship between leadership styles and recruiter effectiveness beginning from the first-level supervisory position and continuing through the commanding officer position. As this study is exploring the relationship between leadership style and recruiter effectiveness, no one leadership style is preferred.

Procedure: If you agree to be in this study, we will ask you to answer the 45 questions listed in the multifactor leadership questionnaire version 5X (MLQ-5X) for raters. If you are in a leadership position, we ask you to answer both the MLQ-5X rater survey and the MLQ-5X Leader survey. Additionally, if identified by the researcher, answer the 33 questions listed in the emotional intelligence scale survey.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

The study has the following risks: Mental stress and breach of confidentiality. While the risks to subjects participating in this study are low, one of the potential risks to subjects in this study is the possibility of increased mental stress. A part of cooperating in this study, you will be asked questions regarding your superior's leadership style. While the results of these questions will be coded for confidentiality and only available to the researcher, the potential for increased mental stress does exist.

Confidentiality: The records of this study will be kept private. The published report will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Only the primary researcher will have access to completed surveys and scoring key.

Benefits: While the potential exists that this study will eventually benefit Navy Recruiting, it is doubtful that survey participants will receive any immediate benefits.

Voluntary Nature of the Study: Your decision whether or not to participate will not affect your current or future relations with your recruiting district nor with Commander, Navy Recruiting Command. If you decide to participate, you are free to withdraw at any time without affecting those relationships.

New Information: None at this time

Contacts and Questions: If you have any questions or concerns regarding the study contact the principal researcher Captain D.A. Murray, USN, Commanding Officer, NROTC Houston Consortium at 281-667-5215 or his Northcentral University's faculty advisor, Dr. Janice Spangenburg at ispangenburg@ncu.edu

You may ask any questions you have now.

If you decide to participate, you are free to withdraw at any time without affecting those relationships.

If desired, you will be given a copy of this form to keep for your records.							
Statement of Consent:							
I have read the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to participate in the study.							
Signature	Date	_					
Signature of Investigator or Person Date	Obtaining Consent						
Appe	ndix F: IRB Application	on					
APPLICATION FOR THE RE	EVIEW OF RESEAR SUBJECTS	RCH INVOLVING HUMAN					
This form should be completed by NCU dissertation or other research involving from human subjects will be or have be (e.g., survey archives or archived recorresearch may not proceed unless approach to the contract of the c	nhuman subjects. This in een collected. Thus, rese rds) must complete this	ncludes any research in which data earchers using secondary data					
 Submission Instructions: E-mail an electornic copy of the completed IRB Application, proposal, and attachments to irb@ncu.edu in the following format: IRB Application should be saved as: Last name of Principal Investigator)_IRB_year.							
SECTION I: Type of Research (Refer to A	• •						
Category 1: Exempt Ca	tegory 2: Expedited Revi	ew 🔀 Category 3: Full					
SECTION II:	_						
1. Name of Principal Investigator:	Phone:	Email:					
David A Murray	281-667-5215	Dave-jane_murray@msn.com					
2. Responsible Supervising Faculty Mentor:	Phone:	E-mail:					
Janice Spangenburg		isspangenburg@ncu.edu					

3. Program / Major:	4. Sponso	oring Organization (if ap	plicable:			
Ph.D. Business Administration - Management	Command	er, Navy Recruiting Com	mand (CNRC)			
5. Contact at Sponsoring Organization: CDR Brian Lepine, Director, Strategic Plans, Research and Analysis (N5)						
7. Title of Project (i.e., Dissertation Title or Provided to Subjects)	Title	Project Start Date:	Planned End:			
Examining the Relationship between	January 1, 2009	March 31st, 2009				
Leadership Style and Navy Recruiting	3					
Effectiveness.						
8. Principle Investigator is (CLICK ON CHE Undergraduate	ECK BOX): [⊠Graduate Learner	Faculty/Staff			
9. This application is for (PLEASE SELECT	FROM LIST	BY CLICKING ON TEXT): New Project			
10. Age Range of Subjects: 22-45	11. Estimated	i # of Subjects/Participa	ints:1375			
12. Type of subject: Adult Non-se (describe):	tudent 🔲 I	Minor 🔲 College Stud	lent 🗌 Other			
13. Subjects: ⊠ Normal Volunteers ☐ Pregnant women & fetuses ☐ Priso			iagnosis:			
APPLICATION FOR THE RE	VIEW OF		LVING HUMAN			
SECTION III:						
DIRECTIONS: Please check the approprief and concise in your responses to questions will cause significant delays	each of the					
14. Yes Will subjects receive	e payment o	or extra credit point co punt, form, and condi				
Explanation:						
15. Yes Will access to subjects be gained through cooperating institution? If yes, indicate cooperating institution and attach copy of approval letter from that institution. (e.g. Copy of institution's IRB approval, copy of approval letter from school board, etc.)						
Explanation: Commander, Navy Recruiting	Command (letter attached)				
16. Tes Does this project involve investigator(s) at another institution? If yes, identify investigator(s) and institution and attach copy of agreement to cooperate.						
Explanation:						
		nisled, or have inform the information invo				

Explanation:

DIRECTIONS: In a total of no more than four pages, please answer the questions 18-23. Please be brief and concise in your responses to each of these questions. Failure to respond to any questions will cause significant delays.

Research Protocol Description (Please attach surveys and instruments to the IRB Application - separate files are acceptable):

18. Describe the objectives and significance of the proposed research below.

The purpose of the proposed quantitative method and correlational design study is to examine the relationship of transformational and transactional leadership styles, within the existing hierarchal levels of Navy Recruiting, has on recruiting production.

Leadership within an organization's recruiting component is critical, as recruitment is the number one human resources challenge. For the United States Navy, the recruiting challenge is one of the Navy's top priorities and is vital to the success of the Navy with approximately 11% of the active duty Fleet replaced each year with new recruits. According to Admiral Mike Mullen, then Chief of Naval Operations, finding qualified replacements is a tough challenge when only 30% of high school graduates meet the moral, mental, and physical fitness qualification standards of the United States Navy. This same population is actively recruited by the sister services, corporate America, and colleges and universities. Additionally, Admiral Mullen stated that finding and recruiting qualified personnel with the right mix of education, diversity, and skill sets from that limited available replacement personnel pool is further complicated in today's era of diminished propensity for military service

19. Describe methods for selecting subjects and assuring that their participation is voluntary. Attach a copy of the consent form that will be used. If no consent form will be used, explain the procedures used to ensure that participation is voluntary. Note: This information is particularly important in determining that there is no actual or implied coercion to participate. (See attached information on consent forms)

This proposed dissertation will study U.S. Naval personnel assigned as recruiters to Commander, Navy Recruiting Command. Six of the 26 Naval Recruiting Districts (NRD), Richmond, Miami, Chicago, Houston, San Diego, and Portland were selected to participate for geographic separation and for a 50 percent mix of Fleet and non-Fleet concentration areas. Participants from each NRD will be screened for morale issues with the annual internal organizational climate survey instrument each NRD conducts along with the 33-item Emotional Intelligence Scale (attached). Production data from identified recruiters with morale issues will be removed from the data analysis to reduce skewing results. The attached consent form will be used.

20. Describe the details of the procedures that relate to the subject's participation below. Attach copies of all questionnaires or test instruments.

Research data will be collected by means of the MLQ-5X survey instrument (attached). The survey will be forwarded to the Commanding Officer of each participating NRD, with a cover letter from the Commander of Navy Recruiting explaining the purpose of this research (attached). An additional letter from the primary researcher will detail the exact procedures on how to administer the surveys to maintain

confidentiality (attached). As mentioned in Item 19 included with the surveys will be the participants' informed consent agreement form (attached). It is anticipated that the Commanding Officer for each participating NRD will administer the survey instruments during either their annual training conference or their quarterly production conferences.

The participants simply place their name on the answer sheet and then shade in their Likert scale answer for each of the 45 questions of MLQ5X survey. The surveys take approximately 15 minutes to complete and can be done without severely impacting the NRD training or production schedule. After completing the survey, the participants turn in both their surveys and their answer sheets to an officer designated by their Commanding Officer, sealed and returned to the primary researcher.

21. Describe below the methods that will be used to ensure the confidentiality of all subjects' identities and the stored data (include how data will be handled after research is completed). Confidentiality of data is required.

Included in the primary researcher's letter to the Commanding Officer will be a request that the Commanding Officer forward the enclosed survey instruments to their Educational Services Officer (ESO) and stress to the ESO the need to maintain confidentiality. According to the Chief of Naval Operations, one of the ESO's roles in the command is to administer promotion exams, which require safeguarding until both the test and the answers are returned to the national headquarters for scoring. Therefore, the ESO is already trained in proper procedures to protect the completed survey instruments. The ESO will be instructed to mail the completed survey instruments directly to the primary researcher.

The Commanding Officer will read a short letter explaining the purpose of the investigation, stress the volunteer nature of the research, the confidentiality of the investigation, and that no-one particular leadership style is preferred. The Commanding Officer will then turn over the proceedings to the ESO. Upon completion of the surveys, the ESO will collect and seal all surveys and then will mail the completed surveys back to the researcher.

The primary investigator will request the additional recruiter production documentation and the Command Climate survey from each participating NRD's Commanding Officer. The primary investigator will then collate the survey results to the additional data to begin analysis. Confidentiality will be maintained, as only the primary investigator will have access to the scoring key, completed surveys, and production data.

22. Describe below the risks to the subjects and precautions that will be taken to minimize the risks to the subjects. Risk goes beyond physical risk and includes risks to the subject's dignity and self-respect, as well as psychological, emotional, employment, legal, and/or behavioral risk. (Note: There is always minimal risk (s) associated with a project.)

The two primary risks to participants in this research are violation of participant privacy and breach of confidentiality. To prevent undue influence over this captive audience, Naval personnel only, the primary researcher will obtain informed consent. The consent form will stress that participation is voluntary. Additionally, the consent form will address breach of confidentiality, by informing the participant that the primary researcher will maintain confidentiality as only the primary researcher will have access to

the survey instrument scoring key, the completed surveys, and recruiter production data. Published results will not include participant identifying data.

23. Describe below the benefits of the project to science and/or society. Also describe benefits to the subject, if any exist. The IRB must have sufficient information to make a determination that the benefits outweigh the risks of the project.

This proposed study is expected to add to the body of leadership knowledge by identifying the correlation between leadership styles and recruiting production in an increasing challenging recruiting environment. All recruiting organizations, including college and universities or corporate America and large organizations with widely disbursed sales-forces will gain a solid foundation with which to base manager selection requirements or institute manager training programs to improve recruiting or sales production.

However, it is anticipated that the research process, including presenting conclusion to the Commander of Navy Recruiting Command, will take at least one year. Consequently, at least one-third of those recruiters who participated in the research will have transferred back to the Fleet and will not benefit from any potential subsequent leadership style training or changes in leadership.

The proposed study's findings could be used to potentially compliment and contribute to the knowledge gleamed from four previous studies. The first study by Masi and Cooke (2000) was a limited study of leadership styles and recruiter productivity within the U.S. Army Recruiting Command. Exploring and examining the association of leadership styles on employee productivity by proximity to their leaders will provide insights applicable to other organizations with geographically disbursed leaders and employees and will compliment the studies Avolio, Zhu, Koh, and Bhatia, (2004) and Klienman (2004) and the study by Lyon (2003) on virtual team leadership. The proposed study could also compliment the study by Mackenzie, Podiakoff, and Rich (2001), of leadership and salesperson performance, as recruiting is similar to sales in that both the recruiter and the salesperson are excising influence over individuals. Lastly, the proposed study could compliment the study by Trombetta (2006) of transformational leadership applied in a transactional-based organization.

APPLICATION FOR THE REVIEW OF RESEARCH INVOLVING HUMAN SUBJECTS

SECTION IV - INVESTIGATOR ASSURANCES

This protocol review form has been completed and typed. I am familiar with the ethical and legal guidelines and regulations (i.e. The Belmont Report, The Code of Federal Regulations Title 45 Part 46, and NCU Policy) and will adhere to them. Should material changes in procedure involving human subjects become advisable, I will submit them to the IRB for review prior to initiating the change. I understand that I am to notify the IRB when the project is completed. Furthermore, if any problems involving human subjects occur, I will immediately notify the IRB. I understand that IRB review must be conducted annually and that continuation of the project beyond one year requires resubmission and review.

	1		1
Principal Investigator	/ Date	Supervising Faculty Mentor	/ Date
_	End o	of Application	

Appendix G: MLQ-5X Scoring Key

Attribute	Abbreviation	Questions
Transformational Leadership	TF	
Idealized Influence (Attributed)	IIA	10, 18, 21, 25
Idealized Influence (Behavior)	IIB	6, 14, 23, 34
Inspirational Motivation	IM	9, 13, 26, 36
Intellectual Stimulation	IS	2, 8, 39, 32
Individual Consideration	IC	15, 19, 29, 31
Transactional Leadership	TA	
Contingent Reward	CR	1, 11, 16, 35
Mgmt by Exception (Active)	MBEA	4, 22, 24, 27
Laissez-faire Leadership	LF	
Mgmt by Exception (Passive)	MBEP	3, 12, 17, 20
Laissez-faire	LF	5, 7, 28, 33
Extra Effort	EE	39, 42, 44
Effectiveness	EFF	37, 40, 43, 45
Satisfaction	SAT	38, 41

Appendix H: Survey Response Rates

NRD	Number	Number	Usable	Effective
	Recruiters	responded	Surveys	Response
	Surveyed			Rate
Chicago	270	194	194	72%
Houston	180	136	116	64%
Miami	160	75	34	21%
Portland	105	103	70	67%
Richmond	190	190	172	91%
San Diego	295	132	120	41%
Total	1200	830	706	59%

Appendix I: Comparison of Normative Sample to Navy Recruiting Sample

Leadership	Norm	ative	NRD	
Style & Attribute	Samp	ole Mean / SD	Samp	le Mean / SD
IIA	2.94	0.78	3.03	0.66
IIB	2.77	0.77	3.03	0.60
IM	2.92	0.76	3.15	0.64
IS	2.78	0.71	2.75	0.60
IC	2.85	0.78	2.80	0.63
TF Total	2.85		2.98	
CR	2.87	0.70	3.04	0.59
MBEA	1.67	0.88	2.53	0.50
TA Total	2.27		2.84	
MBEP	1.03	0.75	1.31	0.52
LF	0.65	0.67	0.87	0.58
LF Total	0.84		1.01	
EE	2.74	0.86	2.94	0.70
EFF	3.07	0.72	3.09	0.64
SAT	3.08	0.83	2.94	0.77

Appendix J: Comparison of Normative Sample to Individual NRD Samples

Leadership style	2004 Normative Sample	NRD Chicago	NRD Houston	NRD Miami	NRD Portland	NRD Richmond	NRD San Diego
TF	2.85	3.06	3.08	2.99	2.83	2.97	3.03
TA	2.27	2.83	2.92	2.96	2.58	2.85	2.84
LF	0.84	0.95	0.82	1.26	1.11	1.00	1.21
EE	2.74	3.08	3.04	2.87	2.76	2.93	3.00
EFF	3.07	3.23	3.15	3.22	2.95	3.06	3.19
SAT	3.08	3.08	3.08	3.11	2.86	2.98	3.11

Appendix K: Comparison of Normative Sample to Leadership Levels Samples

Leadership style	2004 Normative Sample	RINC $(1^{st}$ -tier), $(n=101)$	ZS (2 nd – tier), (n=27)	CR (HQ), (n=6)	EPO (HQ), (n=6)	CO (HQ), (n=6
TF	2.85	3.01	2.88	3.08	2.85	3.44
TA	2.27	2.80	2.80	2.99	2.68	2.99
LF	0.84	1.03	1.04	1.00	1.01	0.91
EE	2.74	2.98	2.85	3.09	2.70	3.46
EFF	3.07	3.16	2.92	3.35	3.12	3.52
SAT	3.08	3.08	2.81	2.89	3.03	3.47

Appendix L: Comparison of Leadership Positions to Production

Leadership Style	Weam Combined (n=146)	W RINC (1 st -tier) (n=101)	W ZS (2 nd -tier) (n=27)	(9=u)(OH) OO Mean
TF	3.00	3.04	2.86	3.44
TA	2.81	2.82	2.86	2.99
LF	1.03	1.02	1.11	0.91
EE	2.97	3.17	2.98	3.55
EFF	3.14	3.25	3.05	3.56
SAT	3.03	3.25	2.98	3.55
Production	118.45	117.88	115.96	125.68

Appendix M: Comparison of Leadership Styles to Production

Leadership Styles	GW Combined (n=146)	We high TF & TA (n=69) U	DS High TF (n=39)	OS High TA (n=4)	G W No strong leadership was attributes (n=34)
TF	3.00	3.26	3.23	2.72	2.26
TA	2.81	3.16	2.61	3.23	2.27
LF	1.03	0.93	0.83	1.00	1.44
EE	2.97	3.28	3.34	2.92	1.93
EFF	3.14	3.38	3.49	2.84	2.26
SAT	3.03	3.27	3.49	2.66	2.09
Production	118.45	115.80	125.35	119.23	115.97

Appendix N: Comparison of RINC Leadership Styles to Production

RINC Leadership					
Styles	$ TF \& TA \qquad (n=47) $	Wery High TF & TA (n=22)	Wean TF (n=34)	Wery High TF (n=5)	Combined Very High TF and B Very High TF & TA (n=30)
TF	3.07	3.67	3.17	3.64	3.67
TA	3.00	3.50	2.60	2.67	3.42
LF	1.10	0.59	0.88	0.66	0.59
EE	3.09	3.68	3.27	3.81	3.70
Effectiveness	3.19	3.79	3.45	3.79	3.77
Satisfaction	3.07	3.72	3.43	3.90	3.75
Production	115.90	115.57	127.30	112.10	117.61